WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection

Provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP



WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection

Provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP



WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection: provider module for oral and longacting PrEP

ISBN 978-92-4-009723-0 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-009724-7 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection: provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at https://iris.who.int/.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design and layout by Lushomo.

Contents

Acknowledgementsv
Abbreviations
Introduction to the WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection
Introduction to the provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP2
Quick reference guide for PrEP providers
Overview of PrEP
PrEP products and regimens
Oral PrEP containing TDF6
The DVR
CAB-LA
Starting PrEP
Identifying clients who can benefit from PrEP14
HIV testing
Assessing for PEP17
Assessing for AHI
Assessing contraindications for the client's preferred PrEP product
Providing information on PrEP choices18
Providing the PrEP drugs
Oral PrEP and the DVR23
CAB-LA
PrEP follow-up
HIV testing
Check-in discussion
Providing PrEP drugs
Suggested procedures for starting PrEP and follow-up27
Stopping and restarting PrEP use
Special considerations for specific situations and populations
Gaps in clinical knowledge about PrEP
Suggested further reading 40
References
Annex. Suggested procedures for measuring kidney function for TDF-containing oral PrEP49

Acknowledgements

The World Health Organization (WHO) Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes extends its sincere appreciation to all individuals and organizations who supported this work.

This work was led by Heather-Marie Schmidt (Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes and UNAIDS), in close collaboration with Robin Schaefer and Michelle Rodolph (Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes), and under the leadership of Rachel Baggaley (Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes) and Meg Doherty (Director, Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes). WHO staff members who contributed to the development of this publication were: **Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes** Mateo Prochazka-Nuñez, Sushena Reza-Paul (consultant, joint with UNAIDS), Carlotta Baptista da Silva (consultant), Cheryl Case Johnson, Niklas Luhmann, Virginia MacDonald, Maeve Brito De Mello, Anna Elizabeth Monroe-Wise (consultant), Antons Mozalevskis, Busisiwe Msimanga, Erica Spielman (consultant) **Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health** Avni Amin, **WHO Regional and Country Offices** Lastone Chitembol (WHO Zambia), Hortencia Peralta (Regional Office for the Americas), Ioannis Mameletzis (Consultant, WHO Ukraine), Tiara Nisa (Regional Office for South-East Asia), Mopo Radebe (WHO South Africa), Pietro Vinti (Consultant, Regional Office for Europe). BKate Welch (independent consultant) provided coordination, and supported writing and review of the work.

WHO acknowledges the following for contributions to the drafting of the publication: Njambi Njuguna, Ariane van der Straten and Katie Williams (FHI 360, United States of America), Michael R. Jordan (Tufts University, United States of America) and Suzanne McCluskey (Harvard Medical School, United States of America).

WHO also acknowledges the following for peer review of the draft publication: Christopher Akolo and Kristine Torjensen (FHI 360, United States of America), Linda Gail Bekker and Elzette Rousseau (Desmond Tutu HIV Foundation, South Africa), Anne-Isabelle Cameron and Heather Ingold (Unitaid, Switzerland), Michael Cassell (FHI 360, Viet Nam), Ines Dourado (Universidade Federal da Bahia, Brazil), Robyn Eakle and Ashley Vij (USAID, United States of America), Kimberly Green (PATH, Viet Nam), Beatriz Grinsztejn and Valdilea Veloso (Fiotcruz Brazil), Mina C Hosseinipour (University of North Carolina, United States of America), Elizabeth Irungu (Jhpiego, Kenya), Rena Janamnuaysook and Nittaya Phanuphak (Institute of HIV Research and Innovation, Thailand), Michael R. Jordan (Tufts University, United States of America), Dvora Joseph Davey (University of California Los Angeles, United States of America and Desmond Tutu HIV Foundation, South Africa), Raphael J Landovitz (University of California Los Angeles, United States of America), Geoffroy Liegeon and Jean-Michel Molina (University of Paris Cite APHP, France), Faisal Mahmood (Agha Khan University, Pakistan), Siobhan Malone (Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, United States of America), Stephen Mills (FHI 360, Thailand), Saiga Mullick and Nicole Poovan (Wits RHI, South Africa), Kenneth Ngure (Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Kenya), Christopher Obermeyer (Global Fund, Switzerland), Rupa Patel (University of Washington, United States of America), Jason Reed (Jhpeigo, United States of America), Danvic Rosadiño (The LoveYourself, Philippines), Hasina Subedar (Ministry of Health, South Africa), Mitchell Warren (AVAC, United States of America).

Abbreviations

AHI	acute HIV infection
ALT	alanine transaminase
ART	antiretroviral therapy
AST	aspartate transaminase
ARV	antiretroviral drugs
CAB	cabotegravir
CAB-LA	long-acting injectable cabotegravir
DSD	differentiated service delivery
DTG	dolutegravir
DVR	dapivirine vaginal ring
ED-PrEP	event-driven PrEP
eGFR	estimated glomerular filtration rate
EPT	expedited partner therapy
FTC	emtricitabine
HBV	hepatitis B virus
HCV	hepatitis C virus
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HIVST	HIV self-testing
INSTI	integrase strand-transfer inhibitor
MMD	multi-month dispensing
NAAT	nucleic acid amplification test
NNRTI	non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
NRTI	nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
PEP	post-exposure prophylaxis
PrEP	pre-exposure prophylaxis
RCT	randomized controlled trial
RDT	rapid diagnostic test
SRH	sexual and reproductive health
STI	sexually transmitted infection
ТВ	tuberculosis
TDF	tenofovir disoproxil fumarate
TLD	tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, lamivudine, dolutegravir
VMMC	voluntary male circumcision
WHO	World Health Organization
3TC	lamivudine

Introduction to the WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection

WHO has developed the *WHO PrEP implementation tool*¹ as a series of modules in collaboration with community organizations, PrEP providers, implementers, researchers and other experts from all regions. The objective of the implementation tool is to support the implementation of oral and long-acting HIV PrEP for a range of populations and settings as an integral part of comprehensive HIV prevention approaches. The implementation tool can support PrEP uptake, persistence and effective use.² It can also assist efforts to achieve the global goals in the Global Health Sector Strategies on HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections for the period 2022–2030 *(1)* and global targets defined in the Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS, adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in 2021 *(2)*.

Since the original publication of the WHO PrEP implementation tool modules in 2017 and 2018, WHO has released additional and amended guidance on PrEP and new WHO recommendations for long-acting injectable cabotegravir (CAB-LA) and the dapivirine vaginal ring (DVR). While some of the information in the previous modules may still be relevant, this Provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP is based on the latest WHO recommendations and evidence.

Guiding principles

When offering PrEP, it is important to adopt an evidence-based, public health approach that is people-, community-, and human rights-centered.³ Such an approach is aligned with principles of universal health coverage, gender equality and health-related rights; including accessibility, availability and quality of services for people who could benefit from PrEP.

PrEP should be promoted as a positive choice, in conjunction with other appropriate prevention interventions and services, including sexual and reproductive health (SRH) services. As an additional HIV prevention option, PrEP should not displace other effective and well-established HIV prevention interventions such as comprehensive condom

PrEP should be promoted as a positive HIV prevention choice, in conjunction with other appropriate HIV prevention interventions and services.

programming, voluntary medical male circumcision (VMMC), and harm reduction for people who use drugs. Instead, it should be integrated into existing health services. Many people who could benefit from PrEP belong to key populations and often face legal, financial and social barriers to accessing health services. Legal environments in which the rights of people at substantial risk of HIV are violated may represent an important barrier to PrEP implementation. Efforts should address these barriers to ensure access to prevention, testing and care services for HIV and other STIs more broadly.

Placing the people and communities who could benefit from PrEP at the centre of design, planning and implementation allows services to be adapted to their preferences and sexual-health needs while maximizing impact and health system efficiency. The public health approach underpins WHO guidance on the provision of PrEP. However, the decision to use PrEP should always be made by the individual; and provision should follow national guidelines. Countries should ensure the relevant policies are in place to support rollout and scale-up of PrEP, accommodating the diverse preferences and needs of those who could benefit from it.

¹ The WHO PrEP implementation tool modules are available at: https://www.who.int/tools/prep-implementation-tool

² Persistence refers to the consistency of taking PrEP over time after PrEP initiation. Effective use of PrEP refers to the appropriate use of PrEP during periods of HIV risk to achieve high levels of protection against HIV acquisition.

³ People- or person-centered care is focused and organized around the health needs and expectations of people and communities rather than diseases. People-centered care is a principle of differentiated service delivery.

Introduction to the provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP

Background and rationale

Since the first release of the *WHO PrEP implementation tool* in 2017, PrEP inclusion in national guidelines and PrEP service implementation have accelerated globally. Increasingly, countries have demedicalized, simplified, differentiated, digitalized and/or integrated PrEP services to increase uptake, persistence and effective use. Furthermore, WHO has recommended additional PrEP products – including long-acting formulations – as evidence of their safety and effectiveness has become available (see Box 1).

Methods

This 2024 update of the *Provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP*, formerly the *Clinical module*, incorporates the recent WHO guidance on differentiated and simplified PrEP services (3), guidelines on services for key populations (4) and WHO recommendations on the DVR (5) and CAB-LA (6).

Methodology for content development: The internal working group and a small team of external experts reviewed the 2017 Clinical Module to identify outdated guidance, and evidence and guidance gaps. The document development was informed by the recent WHO guidance and recommendations, a literature review of relevant scientific publications in Pubmed was then performed, relevant conference abstracts sought, and recent clinical guidelines from national authorities and/or international technical organizations collected. Internal and external experts drafted the document and an external peer review process was conducted.

Competing interests: All external experts submitted to WHO a declaration of interest disclosing potential conflicts of interest that might affect, or might reasonably be perceived to affect, their objectivity and independence in relation to the subject matter of the guidance. WHO reviewed each of the declarations and concluded that none could give rise to a potential or reasonably perceived conflict of interest related to the subjects discussed at the meeting or covered by the guidance.

Intended use

This module is intended to provide practical support to the range of people involved in providing PrEP, including physicians, nurses, clinical officers, community health workers, pharmacists and lay and peer providers, in either clinical or community settings. Countries and programs should adapt this guidance according to the individual setting, including relevant training materials for different types of providers involved in PrEP services.

The module outlines important considerations for the safe and effective provision of different PrEP products and dosing regimens for clients starting, continuing, stopping and restarting PrEP use. It also supports the provision of culturally competent, respectful and user-centric PrEP services. When PrEP providers consider the full range of health, social and emotional needs of those seeking and using PrEP, they can help to normalize PrEP as a responsible choice for sexual health, mental health and improved well-being. In this way, PrEP providers play an important role in reducing stigma and other barriers to equitable health services.

Box 1. Key WHO recommendations on PrEP for HIV prevention

2015: Oral PrEP containing tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) should be offered as an additional prevention choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of combination HIV prevention approaches (strong recommendation, high certainty evidence (7).

2021: The DVR may be offered as an additional prevention choice for women ⁴ at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of combination prevention approaches (conditional recommendation, moderate-certainty evidence) (5).

2022: CAB-LA may be offered as an additional prevention choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of combination prevention approaches (conditional recommendation; moderate-certainty evidence) (6).

Strength of recommendation and certainty of evidence as determined by the Guideline Development Group at the time when the recommendation was formed.

For WHO guidelines and guidance on PrEP, see list of suggested further reading.

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; TDF: tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; DVR: dapivirine vaginal ring; CAB-LA: long-acting injectable cabotegravir.

⁴ In the context of this recommendation, the term "women" applies to cisgender women, meaning individuals assigned female at birth. There is currently no research to support the DVR for other populations.

Quick reference guide for PrEP providers

This section provides an overview of this provider module for oral and long-acting PrEP. Please refer to each section in the module for more information. PrEP providers can include physicians, nurses, clinical officers, community health workers, pharmacists, lay and peer providers and other cadres, in either clinical or community settings.

WHO-recommended PrEP products



PrEP should be offered to HIV-negative individuals who are at substantial risk of HIV acquisition as part of combination HIV prevention approaches. PrEP is not suitable (contraindicated) for:

- people living with HIV
- people indicated for post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP)
- people with suspected acute HIV infection (AHI) with a potential HIV exposure in the previous 14 days
- people with a contraindication, allergy or hypersensitivity to the PrEP product.



Initial PrEP visit

(most people can start the same day they come to the service)

- 1. Identify individuals who could benefit from PrEP, for example:
 - a. Individuals who request PrEP; OR
 - b. Individuals with likely ongoing HIV exposure, which may include any of the following:
 - i. a sexual partner living with HIV who is not virally suppressed on HIV treatment;
 - ii. recent or probable future inconsistent use of condoms for vaginal or anal sex;
 - iii. a recent sexually transmitted infection (STI);
 - iv. recent PEP use for sexual exposure to HIV, especially for individuals who have used PEP more than once.
- 2. Test for HIV (only individuals who return a negative test result should be offered PrEP).
- 3. Assess for PEP (offer PEP if there is a probable exposure in the previous 72 hours).
- 4. Assess for AHI and probable recent exposure (assess any signs and symptoms in the context of probable exposures to HIV in the previous 14 days decisions to initiate PrEP or defer should be made on a case-by-case basis).
- 5. Provide information on PrEP (for example, discuss client's concerns and goals, PrEP products and how to take them, side-effects, procedures for receiving PrEP and additional services that can be offered).
- 6. Assess for contraindications, allergies and hypersensitivities to PrEP.
- 7. Discuss PrEP products that are available.
- 8. Confirm willingness to use PrEP as directed and provide the chosen PrEP product.
- 9. Provide (or refer for) any of the suggested additional services appropriate to the PrEP product and client, for example STI screening. (Only the results of an HIV test are needed to start PrEP. Waiting for other tests should not delay starting PrEP as these may be performed and/or the results provided at a later visit).



Follow-up PrEP visits (timing will depend on the PrEP product)

- 1. Test for HIV (only clients who have a negative test result should continue PrEP).
- 2. HIV self-testing (HIVST) may be appropriate for people using oral PrEP or the DVR to support effective use.
- 3. Check-in with the client (for example, discuss sexual health concerns and goals, key messages about PrEP, side-effects and intention to continue PrEP).
- 4. Assess for effective use of PrEP (assess for AHI and PEP if PrEP use was not effective).
- 5. Provide the chosen PrEP product.
- 6. Provide, or refer for, any of the suggested additional services appropriate to the PrEP product and client, for example, STI screening. (Only the results of an HIV test are required to continue PrEP. Waiting for other tests should not interrupt PrEP as these may be performed and/or the results provided at a later visit.)



Key counselling messages

- All PrEP choices are effective HIV prevention options⁵.
- Effective use is important to prevent HIV acquisition (this means using PrEP according to the dosing schedule during periods of HIV risk).
- PrEP does not offer prevention against other STIs or pregnancy.
- PrEP products are generally safe and well tolerated. Side-effects are typically mild and resolve on their own and can be treated symptomatically. Severe side-effects should be reported to the PrEP provider without delay.
- Regular follow-up is important to support effective PrEP use and to provide other services including HIV testing. The follow-up visit schedule will depend on the PrEP product chosen.



Key messages for PrEP providers

- Task sharing is a key component of differentiated service delivery (DSD) for PrEP and a variety of providers can safely and effectively deliver PrEP. More experienced or qualified PrEP providers have an important role in supporting other cadres.
- PrEP is not a lifelong commitment. People using PrEP can generally stop, start and restart PrEP as their needs and circumstances change. PrEP providers should empower clients to use PrEP effectively, including appropriate starting, stopping and restarting. PrEP providers should support clients who want to switch products and provide information about how to do this safely and effectively.
- Consider simplified and DSD options for PrEP to support persistent and effective use by increasing accessibility and acceptability for clients.
- Oral PrEP is safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding. Although there are limited data on the use of CAB-LA and DVR in pregnancy and breastfeeding, there has been no safety signal and neither product is contraindicated.
- Adopting a person-centered approach, where the PrEP service is tailored to the needs and preferences of the client, is
 important. Some people, such as adolescents and young people, may require additional support and benefit from more
 frequent contact with PrEP providers. Others could have additional considerations. For example, people who use drugs
 should be supported to receive harm reduction services alongside PrEP. Alternatively, some people may only want
 services directly related to PrEP. These needs and preferences may also change over time.

⁵ Specific efficacy varies by PrEP product. Using PrEP as directed according to the dosing schedule for the specific PrEP product is important for high effectiveness.

Overview of PrEP

PrEP involves the use of antiretroviral drugs (ARV) by HIV-negative people to reduce the risk of acquisition of HIV. PrEP is recommended by WHO as an additional choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection (see Box 2) as part of combination prevention approaches.⁶

The PrEP products currently recommended by WHO do not protect against other STIs or pregnancy⁷. However, PrEP services offer an opportunity to provide person-centred and comprehensive health services, addressing sexual and reproductive and other health needs of clients.

Box 2. A note on substantial risk of HIV acquisition

HIV acquisition risk varies considerably within populations and geographical locations. Population-level HIV incidence is an important determinant of individual-level risk of HIV acquisition. However, when considering who could benefit from PrEP, it is important to consider the characteristics and behaviours of individuals and their partners that could lead to HIV exposure. Even in locations with a low overall HIV incidence, there may be individuals at substantial risk who could benefit from PrEP services.

Individuals requesting PrEP should be prioritized since requesting PrEP has been associated with a substantial risk of acquiring HIV (21, 59–61).

The cost-effectiveness of PrEP will vary across countries, populations and PrEP products. However, cost-effectiveness should not be the only consideration when implementing PrEP programmes, since remaining HIV-negative and having control over HIV risk has intangible value to people and communities.

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; STI: sexually transmitted infection

DSD is key to a successful PrEP programme (see Box 3). Different types of providers can offer PrEP safely and effectively, including physicians, nurses, clinical officers, community health workers, pharmacists and lay and peer providers. PrEP can also be offered in a variety of settings - from traditional health care facilities to pharmacies and a variety of other community settings, such as drop-in centres and online and mobile settings.

Box 3. DSD for PrEP

DSD is person- and community-centered. It is adapted to the needs and preferences of the people who are interested in and could benefit from PrEP. Differentiated PrEP services may make PrEP services more acceptable and accessible and support PrEP uptake, persistence and effective use. DSD for PrEP may also support more efficient and cost-effective use of health care resources. Delivery of person-centred health services is one of the key strategic directions of the global health sector strategies on HIV, viral hepatitis and STIs; and DSD is recognized as a key action (1).

WHO has published guidance to support differentiated PrEP services (*3*) using a framework of four building blocks of DSD: service location ("where"), frequency ("when"), package ("what"), and provider ("who"). Adaptations of the building blocks of service delivery may differ for PrEP initiation, continuation and re-initiation, as well as for various PrEP products. Examples of DSD adaptations include PrEP delivery that is community-, pharmacy-, and home-based ("where"), multi-month dispensing (MMD) to reduce follow-up visits ("when"), integrated services to address clients' diverse health needs ("what"), and task sharing with various health worker cadres and lay providers, including key population- and community-led services ("who") (*3*, *8*–15). HIV self-testing for PrEP (HIVST) can support many of these differentiated PrEP service delivery models and allow fewer in-person visits (*16*, *17*). Providers are also often supportive of DSD models for PrEP (*18*).

For further details, see WHO guidance on simplified and differentiated PrEP service delivery (3). WHO has also published guidance on integrating STI services into PrEP delivery (19).

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; DSD: differentiated service delivery; STI: sexually transmitted infection

⁶ Combination prevention refers to a combination of behavioural, biomedical and structural approaches to HIV prevention to achieve maximum impact on reducing HIV transmission and acquisition.

⁷ Multipurpose PrEP products are in development, including combined PrEP and contraceptive.

PrEP products and regimens

WHO has recommended three products for use as HIV PrEP (see Box 1): TDF-based oral PrEP, the DVR and CAB-LA. The choice of the product will depend on a range of factors including national guidelines, product availability and client preferences and characteristics.

Oral PrEP containing TDF

TDF is a nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) used in oral PrEP as well as for the treatment of both HIV (in combination with other drugs) and hepatitis B virus (HBV). TDF-based oral PrEP is safe and effective for the prevention of HIV acquisition from sexual exposure. When used as directed, oral PrEP can reduce the risk of HIV acquisition through sexual transmission by more than 90% (20–23) and pharmacological evidence suggests up to 99% (24, 25). Evidence is more limited of the efficacy of oral PrEP at preventing parenteral HIV acquisition, although pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling suggests that oral PrEP could provide high levels of protection against HIV infection from injecting practices (26). TDF-based oral PrEP can therefore be an additional choice to complement comprehensive and evidence-based harm reduction for people who inject drugs (4).

Antiretroviral regimens used for oral PrEP

The following regimens have been included under the WHO essential medicines list (27) and can be considered for use as oral PrEP:

Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) 300 mg/ emtricitabine (FTC) 200 mg P0

TDF/FTC may be used to prevent HIV acquisition from either parenteral exposure or sexual exposures (vaginal and anal sex), including by those taking exogenous feminizing or masculinizing hormones. A fixed dose combination, where one pill contains both active drugs, simplifies oral PrEP use and reduces pill burden.

Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) 300 mg/ lamivudine (3TC) 300 mg P0

WHO considers 3TC and FTC interchangeable, both for the prevention and treatment of HIV infection (27–29). This means that TDF/3TC or TDF/FTC may be used for PrEP. As with TDF/FTC, a fixed dose combination, where one pill contains both active drugs, simplifies PrEP use and reduces pill burden.

Dosing regimens for oral PrEP

There are currently two dosing regimens for TDF-based oral PrEP. The dosing regimen to use depends on the person's characteristics, circumstances and the route of exposure.

Dosing regimen for most groups of people with sexual or injecting exposure

Fig. 1A depicts the dosing regimen for most groups of people including:

• cisgender women

6

- trans and gender diverse people assigned female at birth (including transgender men)
- trans and gender diverse people assigned male at birth (including transgender women) taking exogenous estradiolbased hormones
- people using oral PrEP to prevent HIV acquisition from injecting practices.

Whether the person intends to use PrEP for a short or long period of time, do as follows:

- Start PrEP with one dose of TDF-based oral PrEP per day for seven consecutive days prior to exposure to HIV. Alternative HIV prevention methods should be used during this time.
- Continue to take one dose per day for as long as taking oral PrEP is desired, and for at least seven days after the last potential exposure to HIV.

WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV infection

TDF/FTC and TDF/3TC are interchangeable for oral PrEP.

This regimen is appropriate to reduce the risk of HIV acquisition through both sexual exposure and parenteral exposure.

Dosing regimen for people assigned male at birth with sexual exposure and not taking estradiol-based hormones

Fig. 1B depicts the dosing regimen for the following groups:

- cisgender men (including men who have sex with men and men who have sex with women) with sexual exposure to HIV
- trans and gender diverse people assigned male at birth (including transgender women) who are **not** taking exogenous estradiol-based (gender-affirming) hormones and with sexual exposure to HIV.

Whether the person intends to use oral PrEP for a one-off sexual exposure, or for a short or extended time, do as follows:

- Start by taking two doses 2–24 hours before sex. Ideally, this loading dose should be taken closer to 24 hours before sex to allow more time to absorb the PrEP.
- Continue taking one dose per day for as long as oral PrEP protection is desired AND for at least two days after the **last** potential sexual exposure.

This regimen is only appropriate to prevent the sexual acquisition of HIV.

Cisgender men and transgender women **not** taking gender-affirming hormones can adapt PrEP use to their HIV prevention needs and preferences. Some people may use PrEP for a single event (for example, sex on only one day), or for infrequent "single" events that are weeks or months apart. This is sometimes called event-driven PrEP (ED-PrEP) or 2+1+1.

If exposure to HIV continues for more than one day - or if an individual prefers to continue to take oral PrEP daily rather than stopping and restarting - they should take one dose of oral PrEP every day (sometimes called daily oral PrEP[®]) for as long as desired AND until at least two days after the last potential exposure. This means that ED-PrEP can become daily oral PrEP simply by extending the time a client takes PrEP; there is no difference in how to start or stop oral PrEP. There are several reasons why some individuals may prefer to take oral PrEP every day over a period of time rather than starting and stopping repeatedly. These include unpredictable exposures, finding a daily routine easier, or because taking oral PrEP every day will provide continuing protection, even if a dose is missed.

Irrespective of the dosing regimen, everyone should be empowered to safely start, continue, stop and restart oral PrEP in accordance with their preferences and likely exposures, to effectively prevent HIV acquisition. There is no time limit on how long a client can take oral PrEP, nor on the number of times a client can restart oral PrEP. If an individual stops taking PrEP (specifically, has more than two days without taking a dose), the next time they anticipate having sex or want to restart oral PrEP, they should their regimen again. If an individual misses a dose, they should take it as soon as they remember; but should **not** take more than two doses in one day.

⁸ Daily oral PrEP, also called daily dosing, refers to taking one dose of oral PrEP every day over a period. For details on how to start or stop oral PrEP safely and effectively, refer to the population specific guidance outlined in this module.





B. Example oral PrEP dosing regimen for cisgender men and transgender women (not taking gender affirming hormones) with sexual exposure

PrEP for a single event e.g. sex on 1 day



Further details are available in the WHO technical brief *Differentiated and simplified pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention:* update to WHO implementation guidance (3).



Possible side-effects

Side-effects of oral PrEP are usually mild and may be experienced by 1 in 10 people in the first few weeks of use. The most common include:

- gastrointestinal symptoms (diarrhoea and nausea, decreased appetite, abdominal cramping and flatulence)
- dizziness
- headaches.

PrEP providers should advise a client considering PrEP that, in most cases, side-effects will resolve within the first month of use (where oral PrEP is continued daily) or will become milder over time (where PrEP is used periodically). Side effects can be managed symptomatically and usually resolve on their own without intervention or a need to discontinue PrEP. Clients should be advised to contact their PrEP provider if side-effects are severe, or if they become concerned. PrEP providers should refer to the product information leaflet for further information on side-effects.

Additional considerations, contraindications and drug-drug interactions

Oral PrEP can be taken with or without food.

TDF, FTC and 3TC do not have any known interactions with contraceptive hormones and do not affect levels of estradiolbased exogenous (gender-affirming) hormones used by transgender individuals (30–32). There is some evidence that the use of estradiol-based gender affirming hormones may reduce oral PrEP drug levels (30, 31, 33). Therefore, individuals taking estradiol-based gender affirming hormones should take PrEP for seven days prior to exposure and continue with daily PrEP until seven days after the last exposure (as shown in Fig. 1B).

TDF, FTC and 3TC do not have interactions with most commonly used medicines and can be safely taken at the same time as antidepressants, tuberculosis (TB) and/or malaria medicines. There is no evidence that taking alcohol or recreational drugs such as heroin and other opioids, cocaine or methamphetamine concurrently with oral PrEP reduces the effectiveness of oral PrEP. For some people, excessive use of alcohol or recreational drugs may impede their ability to take oral PrEP as recommended, and PrEP providers should counsel and support people on effective use.

Oral PrEP and kidney function

Known kidney impairment (indicated by an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) of under 60 mL/min per 1.73 m² or a creatinine clearance of less than 60 mL/min) is a contraindication for TDF-based oral PrEP (4). Evidence suggests that reduced kidney function is uncommon among PrEP users and particularly among people aged under 30 years. The likelihood of reduced kidney function increases with increasing age. While people taking TDF-based oral PrEP may have a higher risk of kidney related adverse events, these are typically mild, nonprogressive and reversible after stopping oral PrEP. Severe kidney related adverse events are rare.

Measuring kidney function is optional for those aged under 30 years without kidney-related comorbidities; and can be considered optional for people aged 30-49 years without comorbidities, particularly those aged 30-39, given the low risk of kidney impairment. More frequent screening (every 6-12 months) is suggested for individuals with comorbidities, those aged 50 years and older, and those with a previous kidney function test result suggesting at least a mild reduction in function (estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <90 mL/min per 1.73 m2).

Where required, kidney function tests can be performed within three months of initiation. Oral PrEP initiation should not be delayed while waiting for test results.

See Annex 1 and the WHO technical brief *Differentiated and simplified pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention: update to WHO implementation guidance (3)* for further details.

The DVR

The DVR is a safe and effective option for cisgender women⁹ to prevent HIV acquisition during vaginal sex. There is no evidence for the effectiveness of the DVR for any other transmission mode. Dapivirine is a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI). It is impregnated into a flexible silicone ring with an outer diameter of 56 mm and cross-sectional diameter of 7.7 mm. The DVR delivers dapivirine locally in the vagina and there is low systemic exposure (*34*). Evidence suggests that, when used correctly and consistently, the DVR reduces HIV risk by over 50% (*35, 36*), and some analyses have found a higher effectiveness (*35, 37*). As with oral PrEP, effective use of the DVR (consistent and continuous use during periods of potential HIV exposure) is critical for effectiveness.

Dosing regimen

The DVR, which contains 25 mg of dapivirine, can be inserted and removed by the client or with provider assistance. PrEP providers should offer to help all clients for the first insertion. Some clients, particularly young women, may prefer assistance with additional insertions, and/or may benefit from assurance that the DVR has been inserted correctly, particularly early in use. Guidance on inserting and removing the DVR is outlined in the product information leaflet provided with the DVR. Training resources have also been produced (38) that may be helpful for PrEP providers.¹⁰

The DVR should be worn for 24 hours prior to exposure to HIV. The DVR is designed to be worn continuously in the vagina for one month¹¹ until it is replaced with a new ring. To maintain efficacy, a new DVR should be inserted immediately after a previous ring has been removed. The DVR should not be removed prior to, during, or immediately after vaginal sex. In the case of accidental expulsion or removal of the DVR, the DVR can be rinsed in clean water and immediately reinserted if the ring has not been exposed to an unhygienic environment, or the client can replace it with a new DVR. Levels of dapivirine in the vagina drop quickly and other prevention options should be used if another DVR is not inserted immediately.

Possible side-effects

Side-effects of the DVR are usually mild and may be experienced by up to 1 in 10 people. The most common side-effects can include:

- urinary tract infections
- inflammation of the vagina, vulva or cervix
- vaginal discharge
- vaginal or vulvar itching
- pelvic or lower abdominal pain.

Clients should be advised that side-effects are uncommon. If they do occur, it is usually in the first month of use. Side-effects can be managed symptomatically and will usually resolve by themselves without the need to remove the ring. PrEP providers should counsel clients on possible side-effects and advise clients to contact their PrEP provider if severe or if they become concerned. PrEP providers should refer to the product information leaflet for further information on side-effects.

Additional considerations, contraindications and drug-drug interactions

Given that there is low systemic exposure to dapivirine with use of the DVR, the risk of systemic medication interactions is considered low.

There are no known interactions between dapivirine and contraceptive hormones, alcohol or recreational drugs. There are no data on concurrent use of the DVR and other vaginal rings (such as contraceptive rings or diaphragms) and these vaginal products should **not** be used together. There is insufficient evidence from trials around interactions between the DVR and use of gender-affirming hormones; however, interaction is unlikely. The DVR can be used safely with both external (also called male) and internal (also called female) condoms.

⁹ In the context of the 2021 WHO recommendation, the term "women" applies to cisgender women, meaning individuals assigned female at birth. There is currently no research to support the DVR for other populations.

¹⁰ The "Dapivirine Vaginal Ring "PrEP Ring" Clinical Training for Providers" provides detailed information on how to deliver the DVR.

¹¹ A month is defined as approximately 28 days.

For clients with a known STI at the time of initiation, treat any STIs according to local guidelines. If only mild symptoms are present, offer the DVR. If there is severe ulceration, pain or discharge, delay providing the DVR until symptom resolution, and advise to use alternative HIV prevention methods. Once the DVR has been inserted, STIs can generally be diagnosed and treated without its removal. Due to a lack of data, concurrent use of the DVR and vaginally administered antimicrobial products, including vaginal metronidazole or clindamycin, should be avoided. Concurrent use of vaginally administered clotrimazole and the DVR has been reported to be safe and well tolerated *(39)*, but data remain limited, and concurrent use should be undertaken with caution. Co-administration of vaginally administered miconazole with the DVR has been studied in one trial *(40)* and data are limited. Additional HIV prevention options, such as condoms, should be offered during co-administration. Consider if there are alternatives available for treatment of candida.

There is no evidence that taking alcohol or recreational drugs concurrently with the DVR reduces the DVR effectiveness. For some people, excessive use of alcohol and recreational drugs may impede their ability to use the DVR as recommended and PrEP providers should counsel and support clients with effective use.

CAB-LA

CAB-LA is a safe and highly effective prevention option for the prevention of HIV acquisition through sexual exposure (*41*). Cabotegravir (CAB) is an integrase strand-transfer inhibitor (INSTI) used in the prevention and treatment of HIV infection. Evidence from clinical trials suggests that, when administered correctly and on schedule, CAB-LA may reduce the risk of HIV acquisition by 79% compared with use of oral PrEP (*41*).¹² It is important to note that oral PrEP when used as directed is already highly effective. The higher relative reduction in HIV risk infections in the CAB-LA arms compared with TDF/FTC is likely influenced by differences in adherence to the dosing schedule, as it is well documented that oral PrEP efficacy is highly dependent on adherence. In both

Both Oral PrEP and CAB-LA are highly effective in preventing HIV acquisition. The greater efficacy of CAB-LA in the randomized control trials (RCTs) is likely due largely to better adherence to the injectable CAB-LA than to the oral TDF/FTC.

trials >95% of the incident infections in the TDF/FTC arm occurred in people with poor or non-adherence to TDF/FTC. Modelling studies suggest an overall efficacy for CAB-LA of 93–94% (42), which is similar to the efficacy reported in oral PrEP trials.

People who inject drugs were not explicitly included in the clinical trials on CAB-LA, but animal models suggest that CAB-LA may be effective for parenteral exposure (43). People who use drugs will also benefit from CAB-LA for sexual exposure as part of comprehensive harm reduction services.

Dosing regimen

CAB-LA is a cabotegravir extended-release injectable suspension (3 ml) at a dose of 600 mg. CAB-LA is administered as a gluteal intramuscular injection (44).¹³ Injections are administered one month apart for the first and second injections (sometimes called initiation injections) and every two months thereafter (sometimes called continuation injections) for as long as the client wants to remain on CAB-LA.¹⁴

Ideally, a client with ongoing HIV exposure who opts for CAB-LA would have the following injection schedule:

- 1. First injection: month 0.
- 2. Second injection: one month $(+/-7 \text{ days})^{15}$ after the first injection.
- 3. Third and subsequent injections: two months $(+/-7 \text{ days})^{16}$ after the previous injection.

PrEP providers should explain to clients the importance of following the injection schedule closely to maintain effective levels of CAB-LA. Although the time between the first injection and achieving maximal protection against HIV acquisition is not currently known, the available evidence suggests that most individuals will reach high levels of protection within 7 days.

¹² While both TDF-based oral PrEP and the DVR were compared to placebo to evaluate efficacy, phase 3 efficacy trials (HPTN 083 and HPTN 084) compared CAB-LA to oral TDF/FTC. As such the efficacy measures are not directly comparable.

¹³ The Provider training toolkit on use of CAB for PrEP provides detailed information on how to administer CAB-LA: www.jhpiego.org/HIVPrEPToolkit

 $^{^{\}rm 14}\,$ A month is defined as approximately 28 days.

¹⁵ Clients may be given CAB-LA up to seven days before or after the scheduled date for the injection.

¹⁶ Ibid.

Individuals transitioning from oral PrEP or the DVR should continue using that method for the first 7 days after starting CAB-LA. All other individuals should use alternative HIV prevention methods during the first 7 days.

When a person stops CAB-LA, cabotegravir remains in the body for a prolonged period (up to one year) (45) with concentrations slowly declining. This is referred to as the "pharmacokinetic tail" or "tail period". During the tail period, cabotegravir concentrations become gradually less protective against HIV acquisition, particularly after more than 2 months, and HIV infections may occur. Alternative HIV prevention options should be considered after CAB-LA is stopped.

There is currently no evidence to support an alternative dosing schedule for CAB-LA (46). Table 1 lists suggested procedures if a client misses a scheduled injection visit. Daily oral CAB (30 mg) lead-in was provided prior to the first injection during the clinical trials ¹⁷ to minimize the risk of allergy and severe adverse events. This became optional in the open label extension studies as there were no safety concerns and will likely not be required by national programs.

Table 1. Suggested procedures for clients who miss a scheduled CAB-LA injection.

Time since last injection	Suggested procedure		
For second "initiation" inject	iion		
≤2 months Administer the CAB-LA injection as soon as possible and continue with injections every two months.			
>2 months	Restart the client on CAB-LA by providing one injection followed by the next dose one month later. Subsequent injections are two months apart.		
For third and subsequent inj	jection(s):		
≤3 months	Administer the CAB-LA injection as soon as possible and continue with injections every two months.		
>3 months	Restart the client on CAB-LA by providing one injection followed by the next dose one month later. Subsequent injections are two months apart.		

CAB-LA: Long-acting injectable cabotegravir.

Adapted from (47). One month is approximately 28 days. Clients who have missed a CAB-LA injection and do not wish to restart CAB-LA should be counselled on other PrEP and HIV prevention options.

Possible side-effects

Side-effects are usually only mild or moderate and are experienced by very few users. The most common side-effects of CAB-LA include:

- injection site reactions
- headache
- nausea
- diarrhoea
- tiredness.

¹⁷ In the randomized controlled trials (RCTs), a daily oral cabotegravir lead-in for five weeks was provided prior to the first injection to minimize the risk of allergy and other severe adverse events. No allergic reactions occurred in the RCTs. The oral lead-in became optional in the open label extension studies as no safety concerns were observed. The oral lead-in may not be required by national programs offering CAB-LA. Research is ongoing on potential differences in the pharmacokinetics of CAB-LA without the oral lead-in period.

Side-effects can be managed symptomatically and most will resolve within the first month of use. Mild or moderate injection site reactions (particularly pain, tenderness and swelling at the injection site) are more common than other side-effects but usually decrease over time. PrEP providers should counsel clients on possible side-effects and advise clients to contact their PrEP provider if they are severe or if the client becomes concerned. PrEP providers should refer to the product information leaflet for further information on side-effects.

Additional contraindications and drug-drug interactions

Based on the limited data available, cabotegravir may interact with some medicines used to treat TB (rifampicin and rifapentine), some anticonvulsants (carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, phenobarbital and phenytoin) and may result in subtherapeutic concentrations of CAB-LA. These should not be co-administered with CAB-LA. If these medicines are started when someone has already taken CAB-LA (for example, a client who is diagnosed with TB) they should be advised of the drug-drug interaction and about additional HIV prevention methods.

There are no known interactions between CAB-LA and contraceptive hormones and, based on the limited evidence available (48), there are no expected interactions with gender-affirming hormones.

There are no known interactions between CAB-LA and alcohol or recreational drugs; though alcohol and drug use could impact the ability to attend necessary health appointments, potentially resulting in missed injections. PrEP providers should support clients to ensure adherence to the injection schedule as needed.

CAB-LA, hepatitis and liver function

Evidence for the use of CAB-LA among people with HBV or hepatitis C virus (HCV) is very limited.¹⁸ CAB-LA should not be initiated in people with advanced liver disease or acute hepatitis. Clients with suspected hepatoxicity should discontinue CAB-LA.¹⁹

Consistent with other PrEP products, testing for HBV and HCV and further assessment of clients with reactive test results, including appropriate treatment as clinically indicated and according to WHO guidance *(53, 54)*, is strongly encouraged. CAB-LA is not active against HBV or HCV. Clients with HBV and/or HCV should be assessed on a case-by-case basis and, where possible, managed jointly with HBV and/or HCV specialized clinicians. In consultation with an HCV and/or HBV specialised clinician, consideration should be given to offering clients eligible for HBV treatment as per WHO guidance *(54)*, TDF-based oral PrEP as the preferred PrEP product, given the dual role of HIV prevention and suppressing HBV infection.

The risks of hepatotoxicity due to CAB-LA are likely small. Liver function testing is not required for CAB-LA and may represent barriers to implementation of PrEP services offering CAB-LA. Where available, liver function testing – such as measuring alanine transaminase (ALT) – can be considered before and during CAB-LA use and may be limited to when liver impairment is suspected, such as in the context of high alcohol use. CAB-LA initiation should not be delayed while waiting for the test results.

¹⁸ In the HPTN 083 and HPTN 084 clinical trials, people with HBV and HCVC were excluded from participation, and data for these populations are limited.
¹⁹ In the HPTN 083 and HPTN 084 clinical trials, a small number of people receiving CAB-LA experienced severe adverse events involving elevated liver enzymes (aspartate transaminase (AST) and/or ALT) (49, 50). However, the incidence was similar to those receiving TDF/FTC. A similar incidence of liver-related adverse events was found among users of TDF-based oral PrEP (51). Hepatotoxicity is rare in people living with HIV taking INSTI class antiretrovirals, such as dolutegravir (52).

Starting PrEP

This section outlines how to provide the three currently available PrEP products. In general, the same steps are followed for all products. Where there are special considerations for a specific product, these have been highlighted.

PrEP may be a suitable and preferred HIV prevention option for a variety of clients. Irrespective of the product chosen, PrEP providers should consider PrEP for clients who are:

- requesting PrEP OR identified by a PrEP provider as someone who could benefit from PrEP
- HIV-negative²⁰
- not indicated for PEP
- not suspected of AHI with a probable recent HIV exposure in the previous 14 days²¹
- not contraindicated to the PrEP product or who do not have an allergy or hypersensitivity to any ingredient in the PrEP product²²
- willing and able to use PrEP as directed.

Most clients can start PrEP on the same day (see Box 4). The suggested clinical procedures for oral PrEP, the DVR and CAB-LA are outlined in Table 3 and Table 4 respectively. Suggested additional procedures at PrEP initiation and follow-up are outlined in Table 5.

Box 4. Same-day PrEP

Most people can start PrEP on the same day they come to the clinic or PrEP service (sometimes called same-day PrEP initiation). Offering same-day PrEP may increase uptake among people who could benefit from PrEP (55-58). People requesting PrEP – even if they do not disclose to the PrEP provider details about their potential risk – are likely to meet criteria for substantial risk (21, 59-61), and to have made a choice to use PrEP based on their personal circumstances, ongoing HIV risk and prevention preferences.

In some cases, delaying PrEP may be preferrable or required. This can include where the individual is eligible for PEP or AHI is suspected. Alternatively, individuals not previously familiar with PrEP may want additional time to decide whether they want to use PrEP or another HIV prevention option and/or which PrEP product. PrEP providers should ensure mechanisms are in place to follow up and support such clients (for instance, using telehealth).

PrEP services offering same-day initiation must be able to test for HIV, or have the results of HIV testing, including through an HIVST, prior to the individual starting PrEP, and be able to prescribe PrEP drugs. In addition, at the time of the first visit, they should be able to perform or order any other tests indicated at initiation, and they must confirm that the client can be contacted, for example, via telephone, email or SMS, if test results require additional confirmation or treatment prior to the next scheduled visit.

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; STI: sexually transmitted infection



Identifying clients who can benefit from PrEP

WHO recommends PrEP for people at substantial risk of HIV (see Box 2). Clients who can benefit from PrEP may present to services requesting PrEP or may be identified by a PrEP provider as someone who could benefit from PrEP.

PrEP providers can take a sexual and drug use history, which should be non-judgemental, for all clients requesting PrEP or HIV, STI and other sexual health or related services. A sexual and drug use history can also help identify people who could benefit from PrEP who did not specifically come to the service for PrEP.

²⁰ The ARVs used for PrEP are not sufficient for HIV treatment. People living with HIV should be started on ART as soon as possible.

²¹ For the DVR, suspected AHI is not a contraindication given the low systemic absorption, and that there is no evidence of HIV drug resistance associated with DVR use.

²² Consider a different PrEP product or prevention option for these clients.

Questions or prompts should be used to facilitate a discussion to gather relevant information on sexual partners, sexual practices, use of and preferences for prevention, drug use (including chemsex²³), STIs and sexual health concerns and goals. These types of questions should **not** be used to ration PrEP or exclude people from PrEP services, but instead used to support clients to make informed choices about HIV prevention. Providing details of past or current sexual behaviour or drug use is not required to access PrEP. PrEP providers should also consider whether recording stigmatized or criminalized behaviours may put clients in danger and, if so, take appropriate precautions.

As the risk of HIV acquisition varies substantially between individuals, all clients should be assessed on an individual basis. PrEP providers should place a stronger emphasis on possible future exposures to HIV than on a client's history when considering PrEP. Local epidemiology, including the incidence and prevalence of HIV within a geographic area and population, may also guide decisions about when to offer PrEP and to whom. PrEP providers should be particularly aware that people who could benefit from PrEP may include clients with:

- inconsistent condom use (for example, within the last six months²⁴) for vaginal or anal sex, intention to use condoms inconsistently, or anticipating that condoms may not be used consistently
- a recent ²⁵ STI by laboratory testing, self-report or syndromic STI screening²⁶
- recent ²⁶ PEP use for a sexual exposure, especially individuals using PEP more than once
- a sexual partner(s) living with HIV who is not virally suppressed on ART.

Inconsistent use of condoms, including an intention to use condoms during sex but with some occasional omissions or accidents, increases HIV risk *(62)*. PrEP providers should also be aware that biased reporting of condom use may occur. For example, someone may overestimate their condom use due to a fear of judgement from a provider, or someone who reports a desire to stop using condoms may already be having sex without condoms. PrEP should therefore be considered for people reporting any sex without a condom, anticipating sex without a condom or who are uncertain about future condom use. PrEP providers should also be aware that individuals may not always be able or willing to negotiate HIV or STI prevention with their partner/s, including condom use. This may be because of power imbalances with sexual partner/s, are could include reduced chility to part the partner/s.

It is important for PrEP providers to be sensitive, inclusive and non-judgemental. Questions should always be framed in terms of people's behaviour, not in terms of their sexual identity or orientation, and should focus on specific timeframes, such as the previous three or six months.

Risk-based assessment tools should

never be used to exclude someone

have stated concerns about HIV and

from HIV PrEP, especially if they

are motivated to use it.

or could include reduced ability to negotiate while taking drugs or alcohol (including during chemsex).

PrEP can protect an HIV-negative person in a serodiscordant relationship when the partner living with HIV is either not on ART or is not virally suppressed. ART that suppresses viral load is highly effective for preventing onward HIV transmission *(63)*. However, PrEP may provide additional protection to serodiscordant couples in several situations.

- ART may take up to six months to suppress the viral load. In studies of serodiscordant couples, PrEP has provided a useful bridge for the HIV-negative partner until full viral suppression of the partner living with HIV is reached (64).
- The client has doubts about the effectiveness of their partner's HIV treatment or has additional sexual partners.
- The client suspects their partner has imperfect HIV treatment adherence or the couple is not communicating openly about treatment adherence and viral load test results.

²³ In this document, chemsex is defined as when individuals engage in sexual activity while taking primarily stimulant drugs, typically involving multiple participants and over a prolonged period. Individuals engaging in chemsex may be at an increased risk of HIV and other STIs as it has been associated with condomless sex and unsafe injecting.

²⁴ The timeframe used should be based on local factors, which may include the recommended frequency of HIV testing and local epidemiology; however, timeframes longer than six months may be more likely to suffer from recall bias.

²⁵ Definitions of "recent" vary between local guidelines, with three and six months most common definition used. The timeframe used should be based on local factors, which may include the recommended frequency of HIV testing and local epidemiology; however, timeframes longer than six months may be more likely to suffer from recall bias.

²⁶ A new STI diagnosis (for example, syphilis, gonorrhoea, chlamydia or genital herpes) can indicate a higher risk of HIV acquisition among key populations in most settings, and among heterosexual adults and adolescents in areas of high HIV prevalence.

PrEP may also be beneficial during pregnancy or the postpartum period, including during breastfeeding due to the increased HIV risk (65–67). HIV acquisition during pregnancy or while breastfeeding also increases risk of vertical transmission to infants (67). The amount of safety data available varies depending on the PrEP product; as such, counselling on PrEP use during pregnancy and breastfeeding should include appropriate risk/benefit counselling (see Special considerations for specific situations and populations for more detail).

Box 5. A note on risk-based assessment tools

Risk-based assessment tools can be effective in guiding a conversation between a PrEP provider and client about a possible HIV exposure, HIV and STI prevention and whether to consider PrEP *(68)*. Self-assessment tools can also be used to help individuals decide whether PrEP is a beneficial HIV prevention choice. While tools have been developed and validated with strong results, many have only low to moderate ability to identify substantial HIV risk *(69)*. Risk-based assessment tools should **not** be used to exclude people from PrEP services or discourage PrEP use. Some individuals may not feel comfortable discussing behaviours or experiences that increase their risk of HIV acquisition, especially where there is a risk of stigma, discrimination and/or criminalization. Therefore, PrEP should be offered as an additional HIV prevention choice to anyone who requests it and for whom it is suitable, regardless of the results of any assessment tool.

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; STI: sexually transmitted infection

People requesting PrEP. Requesting PrEP has been associated with a substantial risk for HIV and other STIs (21, 59–61, 70). PrEP providers should be aware that an individual requesting PrEP may not wish to disclose the reason for requesting it (i.e. the HIV risk), especially in settings where there is criminalization, stigma and/or discrimination. PrEP providers should consider any request for PrEP seriously (61), especially for people in settings where the local epidemiology indicates likely substantial HIV risk in their population group.

HIV testing

Only individuals who are HIV-negative should use PrEP. To rule out existing HIV infection, a negative HIV test is required before starting or restarting any PrEP product.²⁷ Ideally, HIV testing should be performed and results provided on the same day that PrEP is offered to facilitate same-day initiation of PrEP.

HIV testing can be conducted according to the standard WHO testing strategy for HIV diagnosis (5) using the national testing algorithm, usually composed of quality-assured serology assays using the WHO serial three test strategy with rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) (see the WHO *HIV testing services guidelines (71)*. A non-reactive result for the first test in the national algorithm is sufficient to start PrEP for all products.

HIV infection should be ruled out by testing.

HIVST for PrEP

HIVST use can be considered with oral PrEP and the DVR to simplify and support DSD for PrEP. WHO recommends that HIVST can be used to support clients when first initiating PrEP, re-starting, or continuing PrEP (conditional recommendation, low certainty evidence) (71).

HIVST can be used to replace provider-administered testing in several scenarios (Figure 2). For example, to replace clinic-based testing for starting, restarting or during PrEP use (i.e. as prescribed), based on evolving needs including making decisions about stopping or restarting PrEP (i.e. as needed) and as desired by clients between PrEP visits to give reassurance and confidence, and/or support effective use (3). HIVST may be particularly useful for PrEP services outside health care facilities, such as in pharmacies or in the client's home (3, 71–74) and may be an important tool to reach underserved populations (71, 72).

²⁷ Since oral PrEP use can be dynamic, and individuals may start, stop and restart oral PrEP in accordance with their HIV prevention needs, HIV testing should be done at each scheduled follow-up visit, regardless of whether the client takes PrEP for a single event, multiple events or every day. Additional HIV testing can be offered between visits based on individual client needs.

The use of HIVST should always be an individual's choice. HIVST may be preferred for convenience, privacy and self-managed prevention. Clients should also have the choice between oral fluid-based and blood-based kits if both are available.

HIVST is not currently recommended for CAB-LA and further research is needed.





Assessing for PEP

PEP is the use of ARVs by HIV-negative individuals to prevent HIV acquisition **after** a possible HIV exposure. People who come to PrEP services may have had an exposure to HIV within the previous 72 hours (for example, condomless sex ²⁸ or parenteral exposure). PrEP providers should assess the likelihood of exposure, offer standard HIV testing or an HIVST and, if negative, offer PEP without delay.²⁹

PEP should be taken daily for 28 days. WHO recommends that a PEP regimen with two ARV drugs is effective, but the use of three drugs is preferred (conditional recommendation, low certainty evidence) (5). The preferred ARV regimen for adults and adolescents is TDF+3TC (or FTC) (strong recommendation, low certainty evidence) with dolutegravir (DTG) as the third drug (strong recommendation, low certainty evidence) (5).

Refer to the 2021 WHO consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring (5) and the WHO guidelines on PEP for further information.³⁰

PrEP providers should also discuss whether the client may benefit from PrEP and options for transitioning from PEP to PrEP.

PEP to PrEP transition

Individuals can start PrEP without a gap after completing a 28-day PEP regimen **if** they have a negative HIV test result and do not have any contraindications to the PrEP product chosen. Immediate transition to PrEP is preferable for individuals with ongoing exposure to HIV since PrEP is likely to be more effective and can avoid the need for repeat PEP use. Individuals transitioning from PEP to any PrEP product can be managed the same as any other client on PrEP.

PEP should be easily accessible to ensure quick initiation for those who could benefit from it.

Individuals who access PEP may benefit from PrEP and can be immediately transitioned to PrEP following a negative HIV test result at the end of the PEP course.

²⁸ PEP is not required for sex with a person living with HIV who has a confirmed undetectable viral load or where the client's sexual partner is confirmed to be HIV negative. The risk of HIV exposure should be assessed on a case-by-case basis. Refer to local guidelines for further details.

²⁹ PEP is most effective when taken within 24 hours after an exposure, and so should be started as soon as possible.

³⁰ WHO is updating the guidance on PEP in 2024.

Assessing for AHI

PrEP providers should take an appropriate symptom and exposure history to assess for AHI. AHI is often symptomatic, including fever, rash, sore throat, aches and pains, lymphadenopathy (swollen glands), mouth sores and/or headache. However, these symptoms are not specific to AHI and most individuals will have an infection other than HIV (*59, 75*). For this reason, PrEP providers should also assess the client for possible recent exposures to HIV (for example, sex without condoms) within the last 14 days.

Optimal diagnosis and management of AHI will depend on the resources available, and the PrEP provider will need to make a clinical judgement. If the PrEP provider judges the exposure as low risk, PrEP can be initiated. If AHI is suspected and a decision is made to defer PrEP, the client can be retested after four weeks, which is generally sufficient to detect seroconversion. It is critical to accurately establish HIV infection prior to starting a client on ART. Where a PrEP provider is inexperienced or non-clinical, they should consult with more experienced PrEP providers. Counselling the client is crucial to ensure that the client has a good understanding of the decision to defer PrEP and what it means for them; including the need to use other HIV prevention methods during this time to protect themselves and their partners.

The potential risks and benefits of offering PrEP should be evaluated on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration a range of factors including the chosen PrEP product,³¹ the risk of HIV acquisition if PrEP is deferred and the risk of HIV drug resistance if PrEP is started during AHI.

Typically, the benefits of providing PrEP to prevent HIV acquisition outweigh the risks of potential drug resistance because: (i) AHI is rare and most suspected AHIs are not due to HIV, and (ii) PrEP is highly effective in preventing HIV infection that would otherwise require life-long therapy, associated with an annual risk of virological failure and drug resistance (75–77).

Given that AHI is rare and that there is low systemic exposure to dapivirine while using the ring, the risk of HIV drug resistance is likely to be low. The DVR can be offered to individuals with suspected AHI, but the PrEP provider should schedule the next follow-up visit for one month (rather than three months) so that follow-up HIV testing can be performed. PrEP providers should emphasize the importance of attending this follow-up visit with the client.

The impact of starting CAB-LA with AHI on delayed diagnosis, drug resistance and future treatment options is not well understood, and a more cautious approach may be considered. Further data will become available as implementation studies involving CAB-LA are conducted. Currently WHO recommends programs use standard HIV testing strategies with RDTs. However, if resources allow, NAAT could be considered among people with clinical signs and symptoms of AHI (78). Another option for people with suspected AHI is to defer PrEP and repeat antibody testing after four weeks, which is sufficient time for seroconversion to be detected with the commonly available third generation tests. In case of potential HIV exposure, people should be advised to use another HIV prevention method, for example condoms, during this time.

Assessing contraindications for the client's preferred PrEP product

For all PrEP products being considered by the client, PrEP providers must assess individuals for product-specific PrEP contraindications, including allergy or hypersensitivity to any active ingredient or other substance listed in the product information sheet. Clients may decide on their preferred product during the visit, so this assessment may take place before, during or after other counselling.

Providing information on PrEP choices

PrEP providers should adapt their approach to counselling to the client's individual preferences and needs (see Box 6). Someone who is considering PrEP for the first time may require a more in-depth discussion than someone who has used PrEP previously. In general, the discussion should be positive, focusing on achieving the client's goals for health, well-being and HIV protection (this is sometimes referred to as "gain-framing" messaging) (79).

³¹ The benefits of starting PrEP are likely to outweigh the risks (for example, drug resistance) for oral PrEP and the DVR in most cases. As following injection of CAB-LA, cabotegravir remains within the body for a prolonged period, it will have a different risk-benefit profile, including regarding drug resistance. For further details refer to the WHO guideline on CAB-LA (6).

Counselling can include a focus on increasing awareness of PrEP as a HIV prevention option, including the different PrEP products available, as well as helping the client to decide whether PrEP is the right choice for them. For clients interested in PrEP, PrEP providers can provide appropriately detailed information on how to use the chosen PrEP product(s), as well as more general information on PrEP. Individuals should be willing and able to use PrEP as recommended, including periodic HIV testing.

Box 6. Offering a choice in PrEP products

People accessing PrEP services should be counselled on all available PrEP and HIV prevention options and empowered to make an informed decision. Values and preferences research suggests that preferences for different PrEP options varies across geographies and populations (*80*). Offering a range of products has the potential to improve uptake, persistence and effective use of PrEP as people can choose the method that suits their needs, preferences and lifestyles at any given moment in time. The same has been found to be true regards contraceptives, where research suggests that increasing the number of available contraceptive options also increased contraceptive coverage (*81*). Information provided to individuals should include the potential benefits and limitations of the different PrEP products available, including effectiveness, how the products are used and potential side-effects (see Table 2). The best HIV prevention option for a client is one that they will use effectively. Moreover, a client's choice of product, and the availability of products, may change over time. Therefore, information about all available options should be part of an ongoing conversation – even among those already on PrEP.

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis

Counselling should be adapted to the local context and a client's individual needs and concerns, and may address the following issues and services:

- sexual health concerns and goals
- overview of the different PrEP products available to the client (see Table 2 for key messages about each product)
- follow-up during PrEP, including importance of regular HIV and STI testing:
 - PrEP providers should book a follow-up visit with the client at a mutually convenient time
 - PrEP providers should consider DSD options for PrEP that might support the client to stay engaged with the service (see Box 3)
- management of side-effects
- strategies for effective use of PrEP and persistence (see Box 7), including what to do if PrEP is not used as recommended
- other services (as appropriate):
 - prevention and testing for STIs
 - sexual and reproductive health
 - testing for HBV and HCV and linkage to care
 - mental health, drug and alcohol use (including chemsex), gender-affirming care, and sexual and interpersonal violence (as appropriate) (see Box 8).

For further details, see WHO guidance for PrEP counsellors in *WHO PrEP implementation tool (82).*³²

WHO does not recommend counselling aimed only at changing behaviours to reduce the risk of HIV and STI transmission. Behaviour change counselling has not been shown to have an effect on HIV or STI incidence, nor to influence behaviours such as condom use and needle/ syringe sharing (4). Counselling and information sharing that is not aimed at changing behaviours can be a key component of engagement and, when provided, should be done in a non-judgemental manner alongside other prevention interventions and with the involvement of peers.

People accessing PrEP services often have diverse health and social needs and are at risk of infection with HIV, STIs, HBV and HCV. PrEP services offer a unique opportunity to provide comprehensive and person-centered care.

³² The Counsellors module will be updated in 2024 to include new information including specific discussion points regarding the DVR and CAB-LA. The modules can be found at: https://www.who.int/tools/prep-implementation-tool

Box 7. Effective use of PrEP

Effective use of PrEP refers to using PrEP according to the recommended dosing schedule (sometimes called adherence to the dosing schedule³³) during periods of HIV risk to reduce the risk of acquiring HIV.

PrEP is unlikely to be used for life. Any PrEP product can be discontinued if a person is no longer at risk or decides to use an alternative PrEP product or HIV prevention strategy. It is not unusual for people to start and stop PrEP repeatedly, depending on periods of higher and lower HIV risk (83, 84).

PrEP providers should emphasize the importance of effective use and assist individuals to recognise circumstances that may make PrEP use more challenging and/or involve substantial risk of HIV, such as changes in relationship status, alcohol and drug use, leaving school, leaving home, trauma, migration or other events. Some groups, such as young people, may require more support or more frequent check-ins. Support groups for PrEP users, including social media groups, may be helpful for peer-to-peer sharing of experience and challenges. HIVST may be useful for supporting effective use in some groups, such as adolescents (74).

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; HIVST: HIV self-testing

Box 8. Addressing interpersonal violence in the context of PrEP

WHO estimates that almost one in three women have experienced physical and/or sexual violence by an intimate partner or sexual violence by someone other than their partner (*85*), and one in four adolescent girls (15–19 years) have experienced intimate partner violence at least once in their lifetime (*86*). The limited evidence available indicates that violence is also disproportionately high among transgender individuals (*87*) and those who engage in sex work.

HIV services are critical entry points for identifying survivors (88), and so PrEP providers can play a critical role in identifying and supporting individuals affected by interpersonal violence. Any sign of interpersonal violence, controlling behaviour, anger or fear, in response to interpreting PrEP as HIV treatment, could prompt discussion about the risk and benefits of PrEP as a possible way to control risk of HIV. Different PrEP products and PEP can also be explored. This would also be an opportunity to refer the client to prevention and treatment services for intimate partner violence. A safety assessment and plan, as well as counselling and support for disclosure, should be offered to those who agree to take PrEP and are identified as potentially experiencing interpersonal violence (89).

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; PEP: post-exposure prophylaxis

³³ Adherence is an important part of effective use. Adherence refers to using PrEP as recommended and will depend on the PrEP product being used.

Table 2. Summary of key messages to support counselling on PrEP product choice

	\bigcirc		0
	H	\bigcirc	圓
	Oral PrEP	DVR	CAB-LA
Туре	Oral tablet	Flexible silicone vaginal ring	Injection
All PrEP products are effective HIV prevention options (when used as directed). ^a	At least 90% effective (possibly as high as 94– 99%). ^b	At least 50% effective. ^b	At least 90% effective (possibly as high as 92–95%). ^b
Effective use is important to prevent HIV acquisition (this means using PrEP according to the dosing regimen during periods of HIV risk).	 For individuals assigned male at birth with sexual exposure and not taking gender-affirming hormones: take two doses 2–24 hours prior to exposure; take one dose per day during exposure; and continue with one dose per day, for two days, after the last exposure. For all other groups: take one dose per day for seven days prior to exposure; take one dose per day during exposure; and continue with one dose per day for seven days prior to exposure; take one dose per day during exposure; and continue with one dose per day during exposure; and continue with one dose per day during exposure; and continue with one dose per day safter the last exposure. (See "PrEP products & regimens" for further details about starting, using and stopping.) 	Wear in the vagina for one month (including during menstruation) before replacing with a new ring. (See "PrEP products & regimens" for details on starting, stopping and using the DVR.)	To start, • intramuscular gluteal injections are given at month 0 and month one. To continue, • injections are then given every two months. (See "PrEP products & regimens" for further details on starting, stopping and using CAB-LA.)
Use additional HIV protection until you're protected by PrEP.	 The time the client needs to use oral PrEP before exposure to HIV varies by population. For individuals assigned male at birth with sexual exposure and not taking gender-affirming hormones, the time to protection is estimated at 2–24 hours following a double dose. For all other groups, the time to protection is estimated at seven days following daily dosing. Individuals who stop oral PrEP are no longer protected. Individuals assigned male at birth with sexual exposure and not taking genderaffirming hormones should take one dose per day for two days after the last exposure. All other groups should take oral PrEP for seven days following their last exposure. 	The DVR should be in place for 24 hours before vaginal sex. It does not protect against HIV acquisition during anal sex or injecting. Once removed, the DVR is not known to provide any protection.	The time the client needs to use CAB-LA before exposure to HIV is not currently known. The available data suggest that most individuals are likely to reach high levels of protection within seven days. Alternative HIV prevention methods should be used during this time. After the last injection, a client remains protected for two months.

	Oral PrEP	O DVR	CAB-LA
PrEP is generally safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding.	Safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding.	Evidence to date suggests DVR use is safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding (90–92).	Although evidence on safety during pregnancy and breastfeeding is limited, there are currently no safety signals and CAB-LA is not contraindicated. Risks and benefits should be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.
PrEP is generally safe and well tolerated. Side-effects are usually mild and resolve by themselves.	Usually mild and resolve within one month.	Typically, mild and resolves within one month.	Mild-moderate injection site (on the side or the back of the buttock) reactions may be experienced; other side-effects are usually mild or moderate and resolve within one month.
Kidney function monitoring is only required for some individuals.	Kidney function monitoring may be required for some individuals, such as those aged 50 years or older and those with kidney related comorbidities <i>(3, 93)</i> . Monitoring for kidney function should not delay PrEP.	None	None
People with viral hepatitis or impaired liver function can safely use oral PrEP and the DVR, but CAB-LA use may require further evaluation.	HBV and HCV are not contraindications.	HBV and HCV are not contraindications. Individuals with HBV infection could consider TDF-based oral PrEP as an alternative given the dual effectiveness against HIV and HBV.	HBV and HCV may require further evaluation. CAB-LA may be inappropriate for those with advanced liver disease and acute hepatitis, and those requiring treatment for HBV. Liver function testing (e.g., ALT) may be considered but is not required to start CAB-LA. Individuals with HBV infection could consider TDF-based oral PrEP given the dual effectiveness against HIV and HBV.
There are few drug– drug interactions and contraindications.	Low risk of interaction with most medications. Can be taken safely with recreational drugs, alcohol and hormonal contraception. Oral PrEP does not affect levels of gender-affirming hormones, but estradiol-based exogenous hormones may reduce levels of tenofovir. (See "PrEP products & regimens" for more details.)	Low risk of interaction with other medications. Can be taken safely with recreational drugs, alcohol and hormonal contraception. (See "PrEP products & regimens" for more details.)	May interact with some anticonvulsant and TB medicines. Can be taken safely with recreational drugs, alcohol and hormonal contraception. No known interaction with gender- affirming hormone therapy. (See "PrEP products & regimens" for more details.)

	Oral PrEP	DVR	CAB-LA
Follow-up is important to support effective PrEP use and to provide other services (see Table 5).	Follow-up visits are generally every three months. (Additional visits at one month or longer intervals can be considered depending on the client's circumstances.)	Follow-up visits are generally every three months. (Additional visits at one month or longer intervals can be considered depending on the client's circumstances.)	The first follow-up visit will be at one month. Subsequent follow-up visits are generally every two months.

PrEP does not protect against other STIs or pregnancy

Individuals with STI symptoms who are using PrEP should be provided with or referred for diagnosis and treatment

Contraceptive services should be available for all cisgender women and other individuals assigned female at birth who are taking PrEP

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; DVR: dapivirine ring; CAB-LA: long-acting injectable cabotegravir; TDF: tenofovir disoproxil fumarate; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; ALT: alanine transaminase

See the relevant sections in this module for more information on individual topics.

- ^a Effectiveness at preventing sexual acquisition of HIV. There is considerable uncertainty around the effectiveness of using PrEP to prevent parenteral HIV acquisition (see section on Special considerations below).
- ^b Methods to determine effectiveness and control groups in clinical trial varied across PrEP products. Clinical trials of oral PrEP and the DVR compared these against a placebo, while clinical trials of CAB-LA compared this against oral PrEP. For CAB-LA, mathematical modelling estimated placebo-controlled effectiveness.

Providing the PrEP drugs

Oral PrEP and the DVR

At the initial visit, individuals using oral PrEP or the DVR should ideally be prescribed or supplied with sufficient bottles or rings, respectively, to allow for daily use until the next scheduled visit, depending on the client's needs and preferences.

Rates of stopping oral PrEP and the DVR are likely to be higher in the month after starting PrEP (*58, 59*) and individuals using PrEP who have some medicine supply in reserve may have better effective use (*59*). Consideration should also be given to providing an extra bottle or ring in case the next scheduled follow-up visit should be delayed for any reason. Such a reserve supply may also prevent any rationing of PrEP as a follow-up visit approaches. While multi-month dispensing (MMD) should be used whenever possible, PrEP providers should be aware that some individuals may prefer single month prescriptions or supply due, for example, to difficulties storing additional bottles or rings.

冒

CAB-LA

Individuals using CAB-LA will be given the intramuscular gluteal injection at the scheduled visits by a trained PrEP provider. To start CAB-LA, injections are given at the initial visit (month 0) and month one, and then every two months thereafter for as long as the client remains on CAB-LA.

PrEP follow-up

This section outlines the follow-up for the three currently available PrEP products: oral PrEP, the DVR and CAB-LA. In general, the same steps are followed for all products. Where there are special considerations for a specific product, these have been highlighted.

Follow-up visits for oral PrEP and the DVR are typically conducted every three months and can include an optional visit at month one.³⁴ However, these schedules can be adapted to the client's needs and preferences (3). For example, a client using oral PrEP may be travelling for extended periods of time (and so may not be able to meet a suggested visit schedule), or a client may not need three monthly visits (particularly for the more "PrEP-experienced" individuals). Conversely, adolescents and young people (aged 24-years-old or younger) may benefit from more frequent visits to address changing routines and multiple needs. In-person follow-up visits may not be required and could be replaced by telehealth or virtual visits, depending on the service resources and needs and preferences of the client (see Box 9).

For CAB-LA, following the two initiation injections/visits, which are provided at month 0 and month one, follow-up visits for continuation should be conducted every two months thereafter. For example, the first continuation visit is conducted two months after the second injection. Adherence to the injection schedule is important as the CAB-LA injection is provided at the follow-up visit (see Table 1).

All follow-up visits should include an appropriate package of services (see Table 3, Table 4 and Table 5), a check-in with the client and the provision of oral PrEP, DVR or CAB-LA. In addition, follow-up visits should also be coordinated with visits to other health services, such as contraception, to reduce the number of visits required.

HIV testing

While using PrEP, regular HIV testing is needed to ensure that the client remains HIV negative – or to facilitate linkage to confirmatory testing and treatment. HIV testing can be completed in accordance with the WHO testing strategy for HIV diagnosis using the full national testing algorithm, which is usually composed of quality-assured serology assays (RDTs and enzyme immunoassays) (see WHO *HIV testing services guidelines (71)*).

As described earlier, HIVST can be considered as an additional HIV testing choice for oral PrEP and DVR (3). It can be used to replace provider-administered testing, as needed, for starting, continuing or restarting PrEP, and as desired by clients between PrEP visits to give reassurance and confidence (3). HIVST may also support longer intervals between in-person visits to a PrEP service (16).

HIVST is not currently recommended for CAB-LA and further research is needed (6).

Check-in discussion

Follow-up visits can be an important opportunity for PrEP providers and clients using PrEP to check-in about sexual health goals and concerns, as well as PrEP-specific experiences including side-effects and effective use (see Box 7). All clients using PrEP should have the opportunity to check-in with a PrEP provider, to raise any questions or concerns they might have, or to discuss alternative HIV PrEP products or prevention methods should they wish to switch. However, PrEP providers should be aware that some clients, especially those who are experienced with PrEP, may prefer less frequent contact and/or more streamlined visits.

Similar to the initial visit, the check-in discussion should be non-judgemental and positive to encourage clients using PrEP to discuss successes and challenges in using PrEP, intention to continue PrEP and/or switch PrEP products, and to ask new questions about PrEP.

³⁴ An additional visit at month one for oral PrEP and DVR is optional, but can be considered depending on the client's needs and preferences, as well as the available resources. Discontinuation rates are highest in the one month after starting PrEP. An additional visit at one month can provide an early opportunity for providers to discuss with a client their experiences and to identify any challenges, such as side-effects, support insertion / removal of the DVR or support effective use of oral PrEP. It also provides an opportunity to test for HIV. For example, more frequent visits may be preferable for younger clients. However, frequent PrEP visits can be a barrier to continuing PrEP, and consideration should be given to DSD options such as home PrEP or virtual interventions, including telePrEP to increase convenience for the client.

PrEP providers should adapt their approach to counselling to the client's individual preferences and needs, and counselling can address the following issues and services:

- sexual health concerns and goals
- key messages about the PrEP product being used (see Table 2), including how to stop PrEP
- managing of side-effects
- assessment of effective use (Box 7):
 - providers should discuss strategies for effective use of PrEP and persistence (see Box 6), including what to do if PrEP is not used as directed
- follow-up on PrEP, including importance of regular HIV and STI testing:
 - PrEP providers should book a follow-up visit with the client at a mutually convenient time
 - PrEP providers should consider DSD options for PrEP that might support the client to stay engaged with the service (see Box 3)
- intention to continue to use PrEP or desire to switch PrEP products
- other services (as appropriate):
 - prevention and testing for STIs
 - sexual and reproductive health
 - testing for HBV and HCV and linkage to care
 - mental health, drug and alcohol use, gender-affirming care, and sexual and interpersonal violence (as appropriate) (see Box 7).

Effective use

PrEP providers can assess effective use at each visit by discussing possible HIV exposures and PrEP use (including any missed doses or DVR removal). To be effective, all possible exposures should be covered by PrEP. Clients should be assessed for PEP, and AHI considered, if there has been ineffective use of PrEP (specifically, missed doses or ring removal around the time of possible HIV exposure).

If a client reports challenges with effective use of PrEP, PrEP providers should help their clients to identify a range of strategies to make effective use easier.

For oral PrEP, this could include setting themselves a phone reminder, linking taking oral PrEP to a daily activity such as brushing teeth, or carrying at least two doses (such as a pill box on a keychain). Linking DVR replacement to menstruation for individuals with regular cycles could be considered. Social media and support groups may be able to provide a range of different support options to a client, irrespective of the PrEP product being used. Successful PrEP users often find their own solutions to support effective use.

For CAB-LA, clients may require support with developing strategies to ensure that scheduled injection visits are not missed. As there is currently little experience outside the trial setting for CAB-LA use, CAB-LA persistence ³⁵ is not well understood. The available evidence from open label extension studies suggests that persistence on CAB-LA may vary between populations and individuals. As CAB-LA becomes more widely available, it will be important to understand and address factors that support effective CAB-LA use and any key barriers.

Assessment for AHI

PrEP providers should be aware of the possibility for AHI among individuals who have stopped PrEP or not used PrEP effectively. If AHI is suspected in the context of ineffective use, PrEP providers should take a similar approach to the initial visit.

³⁵ Persistence in the context of CAB-LA refers to continuing CAB-LA according to the injection schedule.

PrEP to PEP

People using PrEP as directed will rarely require PEP. However, if PrEP is not used as directed or is stopped, there can be a risk of acquiring HIV. Individuals may stop taking PrEP for many reasons, including believing that they no longer need it, using other HIV prevention methods or simply preferring to no longer continue taking it. Unfortunately, some people acquire HIV soon after stopping PrEP. For this reason, PrEP providers should discuss PEP use with all clients, including where to get PEP, where to get an HIV test (including HIVST). PrEP providers should also advise clients about the need to start PEP as soon as possible after a potential exposure (ideally within 24 hours).

PrEP providers should discuss with clients any possible exposures to HIV and their previous or current PrEP use, including the number of doses taken for oral PrEP, or for the DVR, any removal or exposure other than vaginal sex. Refer to the 2024 update to the WHO PEP guidelines for more detail on PrEP to PEP.

PrEP providers should discuss restarting PrEP with clients who stopped PrEP and have now come to a service for PEP if these clients may have ongoing HIV risk.

冒

PEP is not required whilst the client is having CAB-LA injections as scheduled. PEP should be considered if the client has stopped CAB-LA and has a potential exposure to HIV more than one month after the first injection or two months after a follow-up injection. PEP could be a useful prevention option for people who do not want to switch to oral PrEP when they stop CAB-LA during the tail period (refer to the section on PrEP products and regimens: CAB-LA for more information).

Providing PrEP drugs

Oral PrEP and the DVR

At follow-up visits, people using oral PrEP or the DVR should ideally be provided with a multi-month supply, depending on the client's needs and preferences. While MMD should be used whenever possible, PrEP providers should be aware that some clients may prefer to have one bottle or one ring dispensed at a time. Such clients may have additional "refill" visits. Where possible, multiple locations for follow-up and refill visits should be offered so that clients can choose their preferred location (see Box 9). Clients not using PrEP every day may have some oral PrEP in reserve from their last refill. All clients should have a sufficient supply of oral PrEP drugs or rings for daily use until their next scheduled visit. Consideration should also be given to providing an extra bottle or ring in case the next scheduled follow-up visit should be delayed for any reason.

CAB-LA

After the first two initiation visits, spaced one month apart, clients using CAB-LA will be given a continuation injection at the scheduled follow-up visits by a trained PrEP provider every two months thereafter, for as long as the client remains on CAB-LA.

Suggested procedures for starting PrEP and follow-up

This section outlines the suggested procedures for starting and follow-up of the three currently available PrEP products.

Suggested procedures for oral PrEP and the DVR are listed in Table 3. These schedules can be adapted to the client's needs and preferences (3). Suggested procedures for CAB-LA are listed in Table 4.

For all PrEP products, additional services for clients can also be considered as part of a comprehensive PrEP package tailored to the local epidemiology and client needs and preferences (see Table 5). These may include periodic screening for STIs; testing for HBV and/or HCV (and linkage to HBV vaccination and treatment services, as appropriate); contraceptive services; and comprehensive harm reduction services for people who use drugs, including sterile needles and syringes and opioid agonist treatment. Other services that may be relevant include, but are not limited to, gender-affirming services, mental health services and/or services for survivors of sexual violence.

Table 3. Suggested procedures for oral PrEP and the DVR

			Μ	lonth ^a			
Investigation	Rationale	0 (Initiation visit)	1 (Optional follow-up visit)	3	6	9	12
Suggested minimum ser	vice package						
Identify individuals who could benefit from PrEP	Requesting PrEP and/or could benefit from PrEP use according to national guidelines.						
HIV test ^b	An HIV test result is required prior to initiation and regularly while using PrEP. This can include HIVST and dual HIV/syphilis tests.	Х	X (optional)	Х	Х	Х	Х
Assess for PEP	Provide PEP if the client had a potential exposure within 72 hours ° prior to starting PrEP, or if a client reports ineffective PrEP use within the previous 72 hours. Individuals can transition from PEP to PrEP after 28 days, if suitable. See section above on PEP.	х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Assess for signs and symptoms of AHI	To minimize the risk of drug resistance, the likelihood of AHI should be assessed for all individuals starting PrEP and individuals reporting ineffective use of PrEP, taking into consideration both the signs and symptoms of AHI, risk of HIV exposure and any PrEP use. The PrEP provider should weigh the risks and benefits of deferring or stopping PrEP on a case-by-case basis.	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Χ
Provide information on PrEP/ "check in"	The information provided on PrEP, both topics and amount of information, should be tailored to the client's needs and preferences. A regular check-in provides an opportunity for providers to assess side- effects and effective use; to discuss with clients whether they want to continue PrEP (and/or switch products); discuss successes and challenges in using PrEP; and for clients to ask new questions.	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X

			Μ	lonth ^a			
Investigation	Rationale	0 (Initiation visit)	1 (Optional follow-up visit)	3	6	9	12
Assess for contraindications	If a client has a contraindication to an oral PrEP regimen or the DVR, including allergy or hypersensitivity, a different PrEP product or HIV prevention option should be offered.	Х					
Provide oral PrEP drugs or the DVR	MMD should be used, except in exceptional circumstances or where single-month dispensing is preferred by clients. Ensure the client has enough oral PrEP or DVR units to cover them for daily use until the next visit.	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Suggested additional se	ervices for oral PrEP						
Kidney function measurement ^a	May be optional for individuals under 50 years of age without kidney-related comorbidities. ^e	X ^f					Х
(Only for individuals taking oral PrEP)	For individuals aged 50 years or older and individuals of any age with kidney-related comorbidities, kidney-function monitoring may be done once at initiation or within three months of PrEP initiation and, if required, every 6–12 months thereafter. See Annex 1 for suggested procedures.						

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; HIVST: HIV self-testing; PEP: post-exposure prophylaxis; AHI: acute HIV infection; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; STI: sexually transmitted infection; DVR: dapivirine vaginal ring

- ^a There is currently no universal approach to scheduling follow-up visits. In some countries, follow-up is conducted at month three and then every three months thereafter. Some countries conduct follow-up at month one, month three and then every three months thereafter. Other countries conduct follow-up at month one, month four and then every three months thereafter. This schedule is a guide and can be adapted to the local context and needs and preferences of the client.
- ^b A non-reactive HIVST or negative first test following the approved national testing algorithm is sufficient to start PrEP. Testing schedule should follow national guidelines.
- ° PEP should be started as early as possible, ideally within 24 hours but not later than 72 hours after a potential HIV exposure.
- ^d eGFR of <60 mL/min per 1.73 m² or an estimated creatinine clearance of <60 mL/min is a contraindication for oral PrEP. As kidney function may vary from day-to-day, dependent on a range of factors, a measurement that suggests reduced kidney function should be repeated on another day with a new sample before excluding a person from PrEP services or stopping oral PrEP. Oral PrEP can be restarted if kidney function returns to above the cut-off within one to three months after stopping oral PrEP. If kidney function does not return to normal levels after stopping PrEP, other causes of kidney insufficiency should be evaluated. See Annex 1 for details.</p>
- ^e Kidney-related comorbidities include chronic kidney disease or risk factors such as diabetes or hypertension. There may be an increased risk of kidney-related adverse events during pregnancy, and conditions such as preeclampsia, may cause kidney impairment, so more frequent kidney function testing may be considered during pregnancy.
- ^f Where indicated, may be done within 3 months of starting PrEP.

Where possible contraception services should be provided alongside PrEP for women to increase choice, access and impact.

Table 4. Suggested procedures for CAB-LA

Investigation		Month 0 (Initiation injection #1)	Month one (Initiation injection #2)	Month three and every two months thereafter (Follow-up injections)
Suggested minimum	service package			
Identify individuals who could benefit from PrEP	Requesting PrEP and/or could benefit from PrEP use according to national guidelines.	Х		
HIV test ^a	An HIV test result is required prior to initiation and regularly while using PrEP. This can include an HIV/syphilis dual test. HIVST is currently not considered sufficient for CAB-LA initiation and continuation (although clients may use HIVST between injections).	Х	X	Х
Assess for PEP	Provide PEP if the client had a potential exposure within 72 hours. ^b Clients can transition from PEP to PrEP after 28 days, if suitable. See section above on PEP.	х		
Assess for signs and symptoms of AHI	To minimize the risk of drug resistance, the likelihood of AHI should be assessed for all individuals starting CAB-LA, taking into consideration both the signs and symptoms of AHI and the risk of HIV exposure. The PrEP provider should weigh the risks and benefits of deferring or stopping PrEP on a case-by-case basis.	Х		
Provide information on PrEP/ "check in"	The information provided on PrEP, both topics and amount of information, should be tailored to the client's needs and preferences. A regular check-in provides an opportunity for providers to assess side-effects and effective use; to discuss with clients whether they want to continue PrEP (and/or switch products); discuss successes and challenges in using PrEP; and for clients to ask new questions.	Х	X	Х
Assess for contraindications	If a client has a contraindication to CAB-LA, including allergy or hypersensitivity, a different PrEP product or HIV prevention option should be offered.	Х		
Provide CAB-LA injection	Note: There is a +/- 7-day window for receiving the initiation injection #2. Once initiation injections #1 and #2 are complete, follow-up visits should be scheduled beginning two months after initiation injection #2 and every two months thereafter. There is a +/- 7-day window for receiving follow-up injections. See Table 1 for information on delayed/missed doses.	Х	X	X

Investigation		Month 0 (Initiation injection #1)	Month one (Initiation injection #2)	Month three and every two months thereafter (Follow-up injections)
Suggested additiona	l services for CAB-LA			
Liver function measurement ^f	Optional. Where available, liver function measurement (such as measuring ALT) can be considered before and during CAB-LA use, as per national guidelines. Consider for people with evidence of viral hepatitis or other signs and symptoms of impaired hepatic functioning.	Х		
PrEP: pre-exposure proph transaminase; STI: sex	ylaxis; HIVST: HIV self-testing; CAB-LA: long-acting injectable cabotegravir; HBV ually transmitted infection	: hepatitis B virus; H	CV: hepatitis C virus; /	ALT: alanine
^a A negative first test follo	wing the approved national testing algorithm is sufficient to start PrEP.			

- ^b PEP should be started as early as possible, ideally within 24 hours but not later than 72 hours after a potential HIV exposure.
- $^{\rm c}$ Data on the use of CAB-LA in people with HBV and HCV infection are scarce.
- ^d WHO recognizes that people at risk of acquiring HIV, including people attending PrEP services, could be a possible target group for HBV catch-up vaccination, depending on the local HBV epidemiology and available resources. See (94) for details.
- ^eWhere indicated, may be done at PrEP initiation or within three months of initiation.
- ^f CAB-LA should not be initiated in people with advanced liver disease or acute hepatitis and should be discontinued if hepatoxicity is confirmed. CAB-LA injections should not be delayed while waiting for results of liver function tests.

Table 5. Suggested additional procedures at PrEP initiation and follow-up, adapted to the local context and client's needs and preferences ³⁶

Hepatitis B surface antigen testing ª	Optional but strongly encouraged, particularly in highly endemic countries. May be done once within three months of starting PrEP. HBV infection is not a contraindication for oral PrEP or the DVR. Where oral PrEP is used by people with chronic HBV infection, regular monitoring to detect relapse and management of HBV after stopping TDF-based PrEP is important (3). Individuals with acute hepatitis should not start CAB-LA. If positive, refer for further testing and assessment for HBV treatment. CAB-LA is not effective against HBV and may be inappropriate for individuals with HBV infection. Individuals requiring treatment for HBV should be considered for oral PrEP instead. Even where there is no treatment indication for HBV, oral PrEP should be strongly considered as it will suppress HBV and prevent HIV. If negative, WHO recommends HBV vaccination for people at risk of acquiring HBV. ^b
Hepatitis C antibody testing ^a	Optional but strongly encouraged for individuals with potential exposure to HCV including, but not limited to, cisgender men and transgender women who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, and people in prisons and other closed settings. May be done once at PrEP within three months of starting PrEP, and every 12 months thereafter. HCV infection is not a contraindication for oral PrEP or the DVR. CAB-LA should not be started in individuals with acute hepatitis. WHO recommends HCV self-testing as an additional approach to complement facility-based HCV testing <i>(95)</i> . If positive, refer for further assessment and treatment for HCV infection.
STI testing: syphilis, gonorrhoea, and chlamydia	 Periodic testing for STIs is optional but strongly encouraged as PrEP does not protect against other STIs. Testing every 6–12 months is suggested (<i>19</i>), although frequency may vary according to national guidelines. Rapid tests for syphilis (standalone treponemal tests,³⁷ dual treponemal/non-treponemal test or combined with HIV) can expedite treatment initiation, decrease loss to follow-up and be cost-saving. Testing with treponemal test only will require further testing to confirm syphilis diagnosis and initiate treatment. Decision on treatment based only treponemal tests will depend on local epidemiology, past treatment history and national protocols. Provide treatment and/or referrals per national guidelines. Molecular tests for gonorrhoea and chlamydial infection, if available, should be performed with samples from all anatomical sites to minimize missed infections (WHO recommends that these samples can be pooled for testing (<i>4</i>, <i>96</i>)). Self-collection of samples is also recommended (<i>97</i>). Provide treatment and/or referrals per national guidelines. Partner services, including provider-assisted referral and expedited partner therapy (EPT) of sexual partners is critical to avoid reinfection and to break the chain of transmission. When appropriate, EPT could be considered for gonorrhoea and chlamydia. For further details see WHO guidance on integrating STI services in PrEP delivery (<i>19</i>).
Screening for STI signs and symptoms	Assessing or self-assessment of STI signs and symptoms at every visit is strongly encouraged <i>(19)</i> . STI symptom screening and management for individuals presenting for PrEP can identify those in need of STI care who otherwise might have been missed.

³⁶ Where other services are not available at the same site as PrEP, robust client-centred referral systems must be in place to minimise e loss to follow-up. PrEP should still be provided even if these additional services are not available.

³⁷ Treponemal only RDTs (single or combined with HIV) cannot differentiate between current (active) infection and previously treated infection.

Contraceptive services and pregnancy testing	Assess reproductive intentions and offer or refer for pregnancy testing, if appropriate, and reliable contraceptive options.
Other services	Prevention commodities, including condoms, should be offered to all clients at all visits. Harm reduction services should additionally be offered to people who use or inject drugs (4).
	Individuals using or interested in PrEP may also benefit from a range of other services, including:
	gender-affirming care services
	mental health services
	other drug and alcohol services, including for chemsex
	anal health
	prevention, assessment and treatment of cervical cancer
	HPV vaccination.
	The additional services offered should be tailored to the needs and preferences of the individual.

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; HIVST: HIV self-testing; CAB-LA: long-acting injectable cabotegravir; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; ALT: alanine transaminase; STI: sexually transmitted infection

^a Data on the use of CAB-LA in people with HBV and HCV infection are scarce.

^b WHO recognizes that people at risk of acquiring HIV, including individuals attending PrEP services, could be a possible target group for HBV catch-up vaccination, depending on the local HBV epidemiology and available resources. See (94) for details.

Stopping and restarting PrEP use

This section outlines how to stop and restart the three currently available PrEP products. In general, the same steps are followed for all products. Where there are special considerations for a specific product, these have been highlighted.

Stopping PrEP

Clients may choose to stop PrEP for a variety of reasons. For example, they may have chosen to use an alternative HIV prevention method or no longer perceive themselves at risk of HIV. PrEP providers have a role in helping clients assess their prevention needs and exposure to HIV, but clients should not be required to return to a PrEP provider to stop PrEP.

Clients should be informed about how to safely stop PrEP, emphasizing the need to continue PrEP for the recommended time after their last potential HIV exposure. PrEP providers should also discuss where clients can get PEP and HIVST if they have an exposure after stopping PrEP. The approach to stopping PrEP varies between PrEP products (see Table 2 for further information).

As CAB-LA is a long-acting product, quarterly monitoring for one year after CAB-LA has been stopped³⁸ is suggested, including HIV testing.

Restarting PrEP

Individuals who have stopped oral PrEP, the DVR or CAB-LA can restart PrEP using their preferred product and/or dosing regimen.³⁹ When restarting the same PrEP choice, PrEP providers should use a similar approach as was used when they first initiated the product. Individuals should **always** be tested for HIV prior to starting PrEP using WHO standard testing strategies, or a HIVST for oral PrEP or the DVR, even if the last test was less than three months earlier, and assessed for contraindications. The procedures and counselling should be tailored; for example, some testing may have been conducted within an appropriate timeframe and may not need to be repeated if results are available.

PrEP is not a lifelong commitment. People may choose to start, stop and restart PrEP multiple times throughout their life, in accordance with their needs and preferences for HIV prevention, and their personal circumstances.

³⁸ When a person stops CAB-LA, concentrations in the body slowly decline. This is called the tail period or pharmacokinetic tail. During the pharmacokinetic tail, cabotegravir concentrations become gradually less protective against HIV acquisition, and HIV infections may occur. While there is a risk of drug resistance if individuals acquire HIV soon after stopping CAB-LA, the limited available data do not indicate that drug resistance is likely.

³⁹ Restarting PrEP refers to using the same PrEP product. Whether a client is restarting PrEP will take into consideration the duration since PrEP was last used, any potential exposures during that time and the PrEP product. For oral PrEP, a client should restart if there has been a break in taking oral PrEP of at least one week AND there has been a possible exposure, or a break of more than three months with or without an exposure. For the DVR, if it is not used continuously a client should restart PrEP. For CAB-LA, a client should restart CAB-LA if there is a break of more than two months between the first and second injection, or if there is a break of three months or more for the third or any later injection (see Table 1 for further details).

Special considerations for specific situations and populations

This section outlines special considerations for the three currently available PrEP products. In general, the same steps are followed for all products. Where there are special considerations for a specific product, these have been highlighted.

Switching between PrEP products

Clients may choose to switch between PrEP products. This may happen when different products become available or as their needs or preferences change. The best strategy for switching between PrEP products, including any overlapping use of PrEP products, is not well understood. PrEP providers should use their best clinical judgement to support clients to switch between products safely. There may be simultaneous use of different PrEP products as clients switch between them, particularly to cover the start-up or tail periods and ensure no gap in protection. While no serious concerns are anticipated, there are limited data on the safety of using more than one PrEP product at a time. There is no evidence to suggest that using multiple PrEP products at the same time results in any advantage in terms of reduced risk of HIV acquisition (beyond the advantages of each PrEP product individually).

It is important that PrEP providers continue to ensure that clients are aware of the range of options available; and support clients to choose the one that best fits their needs. PrEP providers should counsel clients on these PrEP options by explaining the key messages for each product (see Table 2) so that clients can make informed decisions.

Management of seroconversion

While all PrEP products can provide a high level of protection when used effectively, HIV seroconversion can occur after starting PrEP. In most cases, this is because the client had a pre-existing HIV infection that was undetected when starting PrEP,⁴⁰ or HIV was acquired after starting PrEP due to ineffective use. Continued use of PrEP by someone with HIV may lead to the development of HIV drug resistance. This is rare but has been observed for users of oral PrEP and CAB-LA (*98*).

After an HIV diagnosis is made, the client should stop PrEP and ART should be offered as soon as possible. If a PrEP service doesn't provide ART services, clients should be referred immediately to an ART site. Transition from PrEP to ART without a gap will decrease the risk of secondary transmission.

If a PrEP user has a confirmed HIV diagnosis, ART for HIV infection can be started without a gap after PrEP is discontinued.

Clients who have been using oral PrEP or the DVR prior to seroconversion can be offered first line regimens according to local guidelines, as the risk of developing HIV drug resistance when using oral PrEP or the DVR is likely to be low (98, 99).

HIV drug resistance is a particular concern for CAB-LA, as integrase strand-transfer inhibitor (INSTI) resistance may compromise the efficacy of DTG, part of WHO-recommended first-line treatment *(5)*. Currently there are limited data on INSTI resistance after CAB-LA exposure and the subsequent effect on the clinical efficacy of treatment regimens containing DTG. One source of data is the HPTN 083 trial. Among the small number of participants who acquired HIV after CAB-LA exposure within six months of their first positive HIV test in the HPTN 083 trial, major INSTI resistance-associated mutations were observed in 10 of 18 cases (*100*). INSTI resistance was not observed among participants who acquired HIV but did not have recent CAB-LA exposure. Of the 10 participants with CAB resistance, all had DTG cross resistance; additional studies are ongoing to evaluate the clinical effectiveness of using INSTI-containing ART regimens among people who acquire HIV after exposure to CAB-LA for PrEP. Population-level monitoring of drug resistance in populations using PrEP, and particularly for CAB-LA during its initial rollout, remains important. ⁴¹ PrEP providers should be aware of national policies on drug resistance.

⁴⁰ WHO guidance for oral PrEP, the DVR and CAB-LA is that the national testing algorithm may be used. However, it should be noted that there remains uncertainty around the possible harms of drug resistance and the optimal HIV testing strategy. This is an area of ongoing research. See the WHO guidelines on long-acting injectable cabotegravir for HIV prevention for further details (6).

⁴¹ Monitoring drug resistance in populations using PrEP can be accomplished through the implementation of WHO-recommended surveys of HIV drug resistance in populations using PrEP and generally consists of drug resistance testing of remnant specimens from all people testing positive for HIV in a defined survey period (i.e., one year) (100, 101).

Management of clients taking hormonal contraception

Oral PrEP. TDF-based oral PrEP does not affect the efficacy of hormonal contraceptives and hormonal contraceptives do not affect oral PrEP efficacy (20, 102).

DVR. As there is limited systemic drug absorption from the DVR, limited potential for interaction with hormonal contraceptives is expected, and no effect on contraceptive efficacy has been observed in one trial (103).

CAB-LA. The limited evidence to date suggests that CAB-LA efficacy is not affected by hormonal contraceptives (49, 104), and there is no evidence that oral cabotegravir affects the pharmacokinetics of oral contraceptives (105).

PrEP in pregnancy and postpartum

Pregnancy and postpartum periods are times of increased risk of HIV acquisition (65, 67), and those who are pregnant or breastfeeding could often benefit from PrEP for themselves and their infants.

Oral PrEP. TDF-based oral PrEP is safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding (*106, 107*). WHO has published guidance on offering oral PrEP during pregnancy and breastfeeding (*108, 109*). Integrated delivery of oral PrEP in ante- and postnatal care settings is feasible (*110, 111*). Pregnant and breastfeeding PrEP clients may experience challenges to effective use (*111, 112*). This includes experiencing side-effects like nausea and vomiting, which may resemble or worsen existing pregnancy symptoms. Additional counselling, particularly on the transient nature of PrEP-related side-effects, may be important.

DVR. Evidence from studies to date show a favourable safety profile of the DVR during pregnancy and breastfeeding (90–92). Adverse pregnancy outcomes, complications and adverse events were uncommon among study participants, and generally similar to the rates observed in the surrounding community (91, 92). Only a small amount of dapivirine can be detected in human milk (90, 113), and minimal drug was detected in breastfeeding infants, with no safety concerns noted (90). Results from the final cohort in the DELIVER study, which enrolled participants who were 12–29 weeks pregnant, are expected in 2024.

CAB-LA. To date there is limited data on use of CAB-LA during pregnancy and breastfeeding. Among the small number of pregnant or breastfeeding people exposed to CAB-LA, CAB-LA was found to be well tolerated *(114)*, and no congenital anomalies were reported *(115)*. However, more research and safety surveillance in pregnancy are needed to monitor adverse pregnancy and infant outcomes, particularly rare adverse events, through the surveillance of PrEP within larger surveillance programmes or antiretroviral pregnancy registries. Although more data is expected to become available in 2024, there are currently no data on the level of cabotegravir is present in breast milk, any impact on breast milk production, or effects on breastfeeding infants among clients exposed to CAB-LA. Given these uncertainties, the risks and benefits of using CAB-LA during pregnancy and/or breastfeeding should be considered on a case-by-case basis, and clients should be counselled that CAB-LA systemic circulation continues after CAB-LA discontinuation. Clients should be supported to make their own decisions about continuing CAB-LA during the pregnancy and breastfeeding period by weighing up the benefits and potential risks.

In addition to HIV prevention considerations, additional services suggested for pregnant clients include HBV testing (contributing to efforts to prevent mother-to-child transmission) and STI services, when relevant. WHO recommends syphilis testing at the first antenatal care visit due to the high risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes (*116*). Rapid syphilis testing can be used (standalone or combined with HIV) and, if reactive, treatment should be immediately initiated, as per national guidelines.

PrEP for trans and gender diverse people

Globally, transgender women are estimated to be 14 times more likely to acquire HIV than the general population (117). Other trans and gender diverse people are also at higher risk of HIV infection (118, 119). This population could often benefit from PrEP, but commonly faces structural barriers to accessing health services (4). Additionally, they also carry a disproportionate burden of other STIs and viral hepatitis (119, 120). Gender-affirming care is often a priority for the trans and gender diverse community, and integration of PrEP services with such services has been shown to be feasible, which can increase the acceptability of PrEP services for this population (3).

Oral PrEP. Trans and gender diverse people who use estradiol-based gender-affirming hormones can start PrEP with one dose per day for seven consecutive days and continue daily oral PrEP by taking one dose per day until seven days after the last potential exposure to HIV. Anyone assigned male at birth (including transgender women) not taking estradiol-based hormones and with sexual exposure can start by taking two doses 2–24 hours prior to any potential sexual exposure and continue to take one dose per day until two days after the last potential sexual exposure (see Fig. 1B). The limited evidence available suggests that estradiol-based gender-affirming hormones may reduce concentrations of oral PrEP (*30, 31*) although this is uncertain (*121, 122*). While the lower PrEP concentration is unlikely to affect oral PrEP efficacy when used daily, the efficacy of other dosing approaches is unclear and further studies are needed. Research is also needed given the lack of data for oral PrEP use in the context of gender-affirming masculinizing hormones among transgender men and other individuals assigned female at birth.

 \bigcirc

DVR. To date the DVR has not been studied in trans and gender diverse populations. This means that there are no data for trans men using gender-affirming hormones and the DVR. However, no interactions are expected. There are also no data for trans women using DVR with a neovagina. Additional research is needed. However, trans men and other gender diverse individuals assigned female at birth who are not using gender-affirming hormones could use the DVR for frontal (vaginal) sex. The DVR will not be protective for clients who have frontal *and* anal sex.



CAB-LA. The limited available data available suggest that use of gender-affirming estradiol-based hormones do not reduce CAB-LA concentrations (*123, 124*). Similarly, CAB-LA is not expected to have a clinically significant impact on gender-affirming hormone levels given the metabolic pathways. There is currently no evidence for alternative CAB-LA injection sites for individuals with gluteal implants. More research is needed on delivering CAB-LA for trans and gender diverse populations, including integration with gender-affirming care services and alternative injection sites.

PrEP for people who inject or use drugs

There is limited evidence for effectiveness of PrEP for the prevention of parenteral HIV acquisition. Pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic modelling suggests that oral PrEP could provide high levels of protection against HIV infection from injecting behaviours (26); however, implementation of PrEP services for people who inject drugs is limited to date (125). The DVR and CAB-LA have not been specifically studied among people who inject drugs. As the DVR releases dapivirine locally in the vagina, it is not expected to offer systemic protection against HIV acquisition, including through parenteral exposure.

People who use and/or inject drugs may also benefit from any PrEP option for the prevention of sexual acquisition of HIV.

PrEP services should not replace comprehensive harm reduction programmes, including needle and syringe programmes. Rather, PrEP should be offered as an additional HIV prevention choice as part of comprehensive harm reduction programmes.

PrEP for sex workers

While sex workers are often at an increased risk of HIV acquisition, PrEP programmes have often not-prioritised services for sex workers. Sex workers also commonly face barriers to PrEP uptake and use, including stigmatization, discrimination and criminalization. PrEP providers can play an important role in creating services that are acceptable and accessible to sex workers, and that provide HIV PrEP and prevention choices. Collecting and acting on evidence about sex workers' values and preferences, and on barriers and ways to provide acceptable services will be important.

Trials for DVR and CAB-LA did not specifically include sex workers although some participants may have been sex workers; therefore, there is a lack of implementation evidence for this group. Implementation research is needed to understand how to provide acceptable, accessible and effective PrEP services for the DVR and CAB-LA for sex workers. However, some initial evidence may be drawn from oral PrEP studies that support the role of DSD approaches – including peer-led models – as effective strategies for increasing access and uptake among sex workers (*126*).

PrEP for adolescents and young people

In some settings, adolescents and young people under 25 years of age, including young members of key populations, are at increased risk of HIV acquisition and may benefit from PrEP (117). PrEP is generally safe and well tolerated by adolescents and young people. Young key populations in most settings may also benefit from PrEP.

However, TDF-based oral PrEP and CAB-LA may be inappropriate for individuals under a certain weight, and national regulatory authorities may include a minimum weight in approvals (such as 35 kg, as in the case of the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) approval of oral PrEP and CAB-LA (47, 127).

PrEP providers should facilitate access to PrEP for adolescents and young people who may benefit from it. PrEP providers can play a pivotal role in overcoming any age-related legal, policy, regulatory and social barriers to accessing PrEP, and health services more broadly, faced by adolescents, as well as overcoming challenges with logistics and expenses for attending services. For example, age of consent laws that limit access to HIV testing and/or HIVST can be a barrier to PrEP, given that testing is an entry point for PrEP and is required to provide PrEP safely.

PrEP providers can also play a central role in helping to overcome challenges to effective use and persistence. Adolescents and young people often face challenges to use PrEP effectively, including oral PrEP (20, 58) and, in some studies, the DVR (128). Evidence from the REACH (MTN -034) study highlights that the DVR may be highly acceptable among adolescents aged 15–17 years in South Africa, Uganda and Zimbabwe, with a similar favourable safety profile as among adult women (129). Tailored interventions to facilitate adherence among adolescents and young people may be needed, including more regular follow-up and support groups for clients using PrEP, such as social media groups for peer-to-peer sharing of experiences and challenges. Adolescents and young people benefit from clinical services that young people have helped to design, access to social services, non-judgemental and approachable staff, and flexible visit schedules. The use of newer approaches, including virtual visits and HIVST, can be used. Integration of PrEP with other services, especially those that specifically meet the needs of adolescents and young people, such as sexual and reproductive health and mental health services, can also support uptake, persistence and effective use of PrEP by these populations.

Minimizing PrEP-related stigma

People who could benefit from PrEP, particularly members of key populations, commonly face structural barriers to accessing health care, including stigma and discrimination. Therefore, it is critical that all PrEP services are not only inclusive, compassionate and of high quality, but are also accompanied by enabling interventions that reduce structural barriers to equitable access to health services. See the WHO *Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations* for further details (4).

PrEP use can be a source of stigma, for example, where PrEP use is associated with behaviours considered socially "undesirable" (such as having casual or multiple sexual partners) or with stigmatized and criminalized behaviours (such as sex work, injecting drug use and same sex relationships) (130, 131). PrEP use can also be stigmatized due to associations with HIV, for example, if others think that PrEP is HIV treatment. Such stigma may decrease PrEP uptake, persistence and effective use.

Normalizing PrEP as a health intervention by presenting PrEP as a responsible choice, situating PrEP within broader sexual health - including improved well-being and mental health, and positive messaging - can reduce PrEP-associated stigma (referred to as "gain-framing" messaging).

Meeting the needs of people who could benefit from PrEP requires the involvement of communities in designing and delivering PrEP services. PrEP providers should receive training in providing culturally competent, respectful and user-centric services. For example, when taking sexual and drug use histories, PrEP providers should be sensitive and non-judgemental, should not require disclosure for clients to access PrEP, and should consider whether recording stigmatized or criminalized behaviours may put clients in danger. DSD approaches for PrEP can also make services acceptable and accessible, for instance by providing community- and home-based services, and by involving communities and peers in service delivery. See WHO guidance on simplified and differentiated PrEP services (3) and the *Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations* for further details (4).

Gaps in clinical knowledge about PrEP

While there has been a significant global scale-up of PrEP programmes delivering oral PrEP (132), experience with delivering the DVR and CAB-LA is largely restricted to clinical trials and other research projects, and significant gaps in clinical knowledge about delivering multiple PrEP products remain. Implementation research among diverse populations across geographies is warranted.

Knowledge gaps across PrEP products

Switching between PrEP products and simultaneous use. Clients may choose to switch between PrEP products. The ideal strategy for transitioning between different PrEP products, including overlapping use of PrEP products, is not currently known. There are also limited data on the safety of using more than one PrEP product at a time. There is no evidence suggesting that using multiple PrEP products at the same time results in any advantage in terms of reduced risk of HIV acquisition (beyond the advantages of each PrEP product individually).

Efficacy of PrEP for prevention of HIV acquisition through parenteral exposure. Evidence on the efficacy of oral PrEP at preventing parenteral HIV acquisition is scarce and there is limited implementation of PrEP services for people who inject drugs (*125*). The DVR and CAB-LA have not been specifically studied among people who inject drugs. As the DVR releases dapivirine locally, it is not expected to offer systemic protection against HIV acquisition, including through parenteral exposure.

People who use and/or inject drugs may benefit from any PrEP option for the prevention of sexual acquisition of HIV. PrEP services should not replace comprehensive harm reduction programmes, including needle and syringe programmes. Rather, PrEP should be offered as an additional HIV prevention choice as part of comprehensive harm reduction programmes.

Knowledge gaps for TDF-based oral PrEP

Measuring kidney function for oral PrEP among trans and gender diverse populations taking gender-affirming hormones. Where kidney function measurement for oral PrEP delivery is implemented (see Table 3 and Annex 1), there are special considerations for trans and gender diverse populations in the context of gender-affirming hormones. Exposure to gender-affirming hormones may influence eGFR estimates and eligibility for oral PrEP (*133*). Using gender identity rather than sex assigned at birth may be more appropriate in formulas to calculate eGFR for individuals who have been in hormone therapy for over six months (*134*). However, more research is needed on estimating eGFR in trans and gender diverse populations using gender-affirming hormones, and optimal equations to estimate eGFR in individuals who have been receiving gender-affirming hormones should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Oral PrEP dosing for cisgender women. The evidence is evolving on the relationship between PrEP adherence and efficacy for different routes of exposure and groups, including recent studies suggested more forgiveness in dosing for oral PrEP for cisgender women (25, 135, 136). WHO will continue to review the data as it becomes available.

Knowledge gaps for the DVR

Forgetting to remove the ring. It is not fully known what happens if a user forgets to remove the ring, but limited data from a small study suggest no safety concerns with extended use of the PrEP ring (beyond one month). However, after one month of continuous use, the amount of dapivirine released from the PrEP ring may not be sufficient to effectively protect the user from HIV.

Pregnancy and breastfeeding. Data are limited on the use of the ring by pregnant women. Interim results from an ongoing safety trial of ring use during pregnancy indicate that adverse pregnancy outcomes and complications were uncommon among participants using the ring and were generally similar to the rates observed in the surrounding study community (92, 137). One study showed that only a small amount of dapivirine can be detected in human milk (90, 113), suggesting minimal exposure of the drug to the baby from breastfeeding (113, 138).

DVR and antimicrobial or vaginal antibiotic products. There are currently no data on concurrent use of the DVR and vaginally administered antimicrobial products, such as metronidazole or clindamycin. Such concurrent use is therefore not suggested and alternative HIV prevention options should be considered.



Knowledge gaps for CAB-LA

Time to protection for CAB-LA. Concentrations of CAB-LA associated with high levels of protection against HIV acquisition are likely reached for most individuals within seven days of the first injection *(139)*. However, further research is needed to better characterize the time to protection and any differences between populations.

Length of protection after last CAB-LA injection. Cabotegravir remains at effective levels for two months after the last injection. After stopping CAB-LA, cabotegravir may remain in the body for a prolonged period (12 months or longer for about half of individuals), but at levels that may not prevent HIV (sometimes referred to as the "tail period") (45).⁴² There is currently no evidence to support an alternative dosing schedule for CAB-LA (46).

CAB-LA during pregnancy and breastfeeding. Data are limited on the use of CAB-LA during pregnancy and breastfeeding. Among the small number of pregnant or breastfeeding women exposed to CAB-LA, CAB-LA was found to be well tolerated *(114)* and no congenital anomalies were reported *(115)*. However, more research and safety surveillance in pregnancy are needed to monitor adverse pregnancy and infant outcomes, particularly rare adverse events, through the surveillance of PrEP within larger surveillance programs or antiretroviral pregnancy registries. There are no data yet on whether cabotegravir is present at any significant levels in human milk, impacts human milk production, or affects breastfeeding infants among women exposed to CAB-LA. Given these uncertainties, the risks and benefits of using CAB-LA during pregnancy and/or breastfeeding should be considered on a case-by-case basis, and clients should be counselled that CAB-LA systemic circulation continues after CAB-LA discontinuation.

CAB-LA and HIV drug resistance. There are risks of delayed diagnosis and HIV drug resistance when an individual with a pre-existing HIV infection initiates CAB-LA, an individual acquires HIV while using CAB-LA, or an individual acquires HIV within 6 months of stopping CAB-LA. Across the published clinical trials, the number of people who started CAB-LA with AHI or who acquired HIV while taking CAB-LA was small (*41, 50, 140–142*). Although some individuals had INSTI-resistance associated mutations detected at the time of HIV diagnosis, the clinical effectiveness of first-line ART regimens containing DTG, for example, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, lamivudine, dolutegravir (TLD), among those with CAB resistance is currently unknown. To date, the emergence of these drug-resistance mutations has only been observed in individuals who received CAB-LA within the 6 months prior to their HIV diagnosis (*140, 143*). INSTI-associated resistance mutations have not been detected in people who received CAB-LA PrEP more than 6 months before their diagnosis. Further research, as well as monitoring and evaluation of PrEP programs are needed to quantify the risks of HIV drug resistance after CAB-LA exposure, identify the factors associated with INSTI drug resistance, and determine the clinical impact of CAB-related INSTI drug resistance mutations on ART regimens containing DTG.

Although earlier diagnosis of breakthrough HIV infections may be possible with the use of molecular tests, these are expensive and often not readily available at the point-of-care in many low- and middle-income countries. WHO and several regulatory authorities do not require molecular testing, for example, NAAT, for CAB-LA delivery. Research on the role of HIVST in implementing long-acting injectable PrEP options, such as CAB-LA, is also needed. Further implementation research and monitoring of different testing approaches will be important to establish the optimal testing strategy for safe and effective CAB-LA delivery.

CAB-LA for trans and gender diverse people. Limited available data from the HPTN 083 clinical trial suggest CAB-LA drug concentrations were similar among transgender women using gender-affirming hormones compared with those not taking gender-affirming hormones (*123, 124*). Although no impact is expected based on metabolism, research is needed on the impact of CAB-LA on gender-affirming hormones. Moreover, there is currently limited evidence for alternative CAB-LA injection sites for individuals with gluteal implants, although evidence on cabotegravir/rilpivirine for HIV treatment suggests similar pharmacokinetics after thigh injections compared to gluteal injections (*144*). More research is needed on delivering CAB-LA for trans and gender diverse populations, including integration with gender-affirming care services and alternative injection sites.

⁴² The HPTN 077 study found that the time to the lower limit of quantification of CAB-LA after the last injection was 43.7 weeks for those assigned male at birth (range: 20.4–152.5 weeks) and 67.3 weeks for those assigned female at birth (range: 17.7–225.5 weeks).

Suggested further reading

Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: Recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/342899)

Consolidated guidelines on HIV viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/360601)

Differentiated and simplified pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention: update to WHO implementation guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/360861/9789240053694-eng.pdf)

Global health sector strategies on, respectively, HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections for the period 2022–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/360348/9789240053779-eng.pdf)

Guidelines on long-acting injectable cabotegravir for HIV prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/360869/9789240054097-eng.pdf)

WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection. Module 13. Integrating STI services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/362227/9789240057425-eng.pdf)

References

- 1. Global health sector strategies on, respectively, HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections for the period 2022–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/360348, accessed 13 February 2024).
- United Nations General Assembly. Political declaration on HIV and AIDS: ending inequalities and getting on track to end AIDS by 2030. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS); 2021 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2021/2021_political-declaration-on-hiv-and-aids, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 3. Differentiated and simplified pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention: update to WHO implementation guidance. Technical brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/360861, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 4. Consolidated guidelines on HIV, viral hepatitis and STI prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/360601, accessed 29 April 2024).
- 5. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/342899, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 6. Guidelines on long-acting injectable cabotegravir for HIV prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/360869, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 7. Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/186275, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 8. Pengnonyang S, Ramautarsing RA, Janyam S, Chaisalee T, Chanlearn P, Vannakit R, et al. Certification of lay providers to deliver key population-led HIV services in Thailand's National Healthcare System: lessons learned. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;**25**(7):e25965.
- 9. Phanuphak N, Sungsing T, Jantarapakde J, Pengnonyang S, Trachunthong D, Mingkwanrungruang P, et al. Princess PrEP program: the first key population-led model to deliver pre-exposure prophylaxis to key populations by key populations in Thailand. Sex Health. 2018;**15**(6):54–555.
- Medina-Marino A, Bezuidenhout D, Hosek S, Barnabas RV, Atujuna M, Bezuidenhout C, et al. The Community PrEP Study: a randomized control trial leveraging community-based platforms to improve access and adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV among adolescent girls and young women in South Africa-study protocol. Trials. 2021;22(1):489.
- 11. Rousseau E, Bekker LG, Julies RF, Celum C, Morton J, Johnson R, et al. A community-based mobile clinic model delivering PrEP for HIV prevention to adolescent girls and young women in Cape Town, South Africa. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;**21**(1):888.
- 12. Rousseau E, Julies RF, Madubela N, Kassim S. Novel platforms for biomedical HIV prevention delivery to Key Populations community mobile clinics, peer-supported, pharmacy-led PrEP delivery, and the use of telemedicine. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2021;**18**(6):500–507.
- Becquet V, Nouaman M, Plazy M, Agoua A, Zébago C, Dao H, et al. A community-based healthcare package combining testing and prevention tools, including pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), immediate HIV treatment, management of hepatitis B virus, and sexual and reproductive health (SRH), targeting female sex workers (FSWs) in Côte d'Ivoire: the ANRS 12381 PRINCESSE project. BMC Public Health. 2021;**21**(1):2214.
- 14. Kuo AP, Roche SD, Mugambi ML, Pintye J, Baeten JM, Bukusi E, et al. The effectiveness, feasibility and acceptability of HIV service delivery at private pharmacies in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;**25**(10):e26027.
- 15. Celum C, B. Grinsztejn, and K. Ngure, Preparing for long-acting PrEP delivery: building on lessons from oral PrEP. J Int AIDS Soc. 2023;**26**(2):e26103.
- 16. Ngure K, Ortblad KF, Mogere P, Bardon AR, Thomas KK, Mangale D, et al. Efficiency of 6-month PrEP dispensing with HIV self-testing in Kenya: an open-label, randomised, non-inferiority, implementation trial. Lancet HIV. 2022;**9**(7)e464–e473.
- 17. Hoagland B, Torres TS, Bezerra DRB, Geraldo K, Pimenta C, Veloso VG, et al. Telemedicine as a tool for PrEP delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic in a large HIV prevention service in Rio de Janeiro-Brazil. Braz J Infect Dis. 2020;**24**(4):360–364.
- Henderson M, Schmidt HA, Chitembo L, Peralta H, Alaama AS, Johnson C, et al. The future of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention: a global qualitative consultation on provider perspectives on new products and differentiated service delivery. AIDS Behav. 2023;27(11):3755–3766.

- 19. WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection. Module 13. Integrating STI services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/362227, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 20. Fonner VA, Fonner VA, Dalglish SL, Kennedy CE, Baggaley R, O'Reilly KR, et al. Effectiveness and safety of oral HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis for all populations. AIDS, 2016 ;30(12):1973-83.
- 21. Molina JM, Capitant C, Spire B, Pialoux G, Cotte L, Charreau I, et al; ANRS IPERGAY Study Group. On-Demand Preexposure Prophylaxis in Men at High Risk for HIV-1 Infection. N Engl J Med. 2015;**373**(23):2237–46.
- 22. Molina JM, Charreau I, Spire B, Cotte L, Chas J, Capitant C, et al; ANRS IPERGAY Study Group. Efficacy, safety, and effect on sexual behaviour of on-demand pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV in men who have sex with men: an observational cohort study. Lancet HIV. 2017;4(9):e402–e410.
- 23. Antoni G, Tremblay C, Delaugerre C, Charreau I, Cua E, Rojas Castro D, et al; ANRS IPERGAY Study Group. On-demand pre-exposure prophylaxis with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate plus emtricitabine among men who have sex with men with less frequent sexual intercourse: a post-hoc analysis of the ANRS IPERGAY trial. Lancet HIV. 2020;**7**(2):113–e120.
- 24. Anderson PL, Glidden DV, Liu A, Buchbinder S, Lama JR, Guanira JV, et al; iPrEx Study Team. Emtricitabine-tenofovir concentrations and pre-exposure prophylaxis efficacy in men who have sex with men. Sci Transl Med. 2012;**4**(151):151ra125.
- 25. Moore M, Stansfield S, Donnell DJ, Boily MC, Mitchell KM, Anderson PL, et al. Efficacy estimates of oral pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention in cisgender women with partial adherence. Nat Med. 2023;29(11):2748-2752.
- 26. Garrett KL, Chen J, Maas BM, Cottrell ML, Prince HA, Sykes C, et al. A pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model to predict effective HIV prophylaxis dosing strategies for people who inject drugs. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2018;**367**(2):245–251.
- 27. World Health Organization Model List of Essential Medicines: 22nd List (2021). 2021, Geneva: World Health Organization (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/345533, accessed 29 April 2024).
- 28. Technical update on treatment optimization: pharmacological equivalence and clinical interchangeability of lamivudine and emtricitabine: a review of current literature. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/70936, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 29. Ford N, Shubber Z, Hill A, Vitoria M, Doherty M, Mills EJ, et al. Comparative efficacy of lamivudine and emtricitabine: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. PLoS One, 2013. **8**(11):e79981.
- 30. Hiransuthikul A, Janamnuaysook R, Himmad K, Kerr SJ, Thammajaruk N, Pankam T, et al. Drug-drug interactions between feminizing hormone therapy and pre-exposure prophylaxis among transgender women: the iFACT study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;**22**(7):e25338.
- Shieh E, Marzinke MA, Fuchs EJ, Hamlin A, Bakshi R, Aung W, et al. Transgender women on oral HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis have significantly lower tenofovir and emtricitabine concentrations when also taking oestrogen when compared to cisgender men. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(11):e25405.
- 32. Yager J, Brooks KM, Brothers J, Mulligan K, Landovitz RJ, Reirden D, et al. Gender-affirming hormone pharmacokinetics among adolescent and young adult transgender persons receiving daily emtricitabine/tenofovir disoproxil fumarate. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2022.
- Cottrell ML, Prince HMA, Schauer AP, Sykes C, Maffuid K, Poliseno A, et al. Decreased tenofovir diphosphate concentrations in a transgender female cohort: implications for human immunodeficiency virus preexposure prophylaxis. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;69(12):2201–2204.
- 34. Nel A, Bekker LG, Bukusi E, Hellström E, Kotze P, Louw C, et al. Safety, acceptability and adherence of dapivirine vaginal ring in a microbicide clinical trial conducted in multiple countries in sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One. 2016;**11**(3):e0147743.
- 35. Brown ER, Hendrix CW, van der Straten A, Kiweewa FM, Mgodi NM, Palanee-Philips T, et al; MTN-020/ASPIRE Study Team. Greater dapivirine release from the dapivirine vaginal ring is correlated with lower risk of HIV-1 acquisition: a secondary analysis from a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;**23**(11):e25634.
- 36. Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Mgodi NM, Mayo AJ, Szydlo DW, Ramjee G, et al; MTN-025/HOPE Study Team. Safety, uptake, and use of a dapivirine vaginal ring for HIV-1 prevention in African women (HOPE): an open-label, extension study. Lancet HIV. 2021;**8**(2):e87–e95.

- Nel A, van Niekerk N, Van Baelen B, Malherbe M, Mans W, Carter A, et al; DREAM Study Team. Safety, adherence, and HIV-1 seroconversion among women using the dapivirine vaginal ring (DREAM): an open-label, extension study. Lancet HIV. 2021;8(2):e77–e86.
- Dapivirine vaginal ring "PrEP ring": clinical training for providers. Version 3.0. 2023, MOSAIC (https://www.prepwatch.org/catalysttraining-materials/, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 39. Van Niekerk N, Noukens J, Nuttall J, Devlin D, Nel A. Pharmacokinetics of dapivirine vaginal ring (25 mg) co-administered with clotrimazole. Presented at HIVR4P2018, Madrid, Spain, 21–25 October 2018.
- 40. Nel A, Haazen W, Nuttall J, Romano J, Rosenberg Z, van Niekerk N, A safety and pharmacokinetic trial assessing delivery of dapivirine from a vaginal ring in healthy women. AIDS. 2014;**28**(10):1479–87.
- 41. Fonner VA, Ridgeway K, van der Straten A, Lorenzetti L, Dinh N, Rodolph M, et al. Safety and efficacy of long-acting injectable cabotegravir as pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV acquisition: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2023;**37**(6):957-966...
- 42. Donnell D, Gao F, Hughes JP, Hanscom B, Corey L, Cohen MS, et al. Counterfactual estimation of efficacy against placebo for novel PrEP agents using external trial data: example of injectable cabotegravir and oral PrEP in women. J Int AIDS Soc. 2023;**26**(6):e26118.
- 43. Andrews CD, Bernard LS, Poon AY, Mohri H, Gettie N, Spreen WR, et al. Cabotegravir long acting injection protects macaques against intravenous challenge with SIVmac251. AIDS. 2017;**31**(4):461–467.
- 44. JHPEIGO. Provider Training Toolkit on use of CAB for PrEP. (www.jhpiego.org/HIVPrEPToolkit, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 45. Landovitz RJ, Li S, Eron JJ Jr, Grinsztejn B, Dawood H, Liu AY, et al. Tail-phase safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of long-acting injectable cabotegravir in HIV-uninfected adults: a secondary analysis of the HPTN 077 trial. Lancet HIV. 2020;7(7):e472–e481.
- 46. Marzinke MA, Guo X, Hughes JP, Hanscom B, Piwowar-Manning E, Hendrix CW, et al, for the HPTN 084 Study Group. Cabotegravir pharmacology in the background of delayed injections in HPTN 084. Presented at CROI, 19–22 February 2023, Seattle, WA. USA. 2023.
- 47. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Highlights of prescribing information: APRETUDE (cabotegravir extended-relase intramuscular infection). 2021. (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2021/215499s000lbl.pdf, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 48. Spinelli, MA, B. Grinsztejn, Landovitz RJ. Promises and challenges: cabotegravir for preexposure prophylaxis. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2022;**17**(4):186–191.
- 49. Delany-Moretlwe S, Hughes JP, Bock P, Ouma SG, Hunidzarira P, Kalonji D, et al; HPTN 084 Study Group. Cabotegravir for the prevention of HIV-1 in women: results from HPTN 084, a phase 3, randomised clinical trial. Lancet. 2022;**399**(10337):1779–1789. Erratum in: Lancet. 7 May 2022;399(10337):1778.
- 50. Landovitz RJ, Donnell D, Clement ME, Hanscom B, Cottle L, Coelho L, et al; HPTN 083 Study Team. Cabotegravir for HIV Prevention in Cisgender Men and Transgender Women. N Engl J Med. 2021;**385**(7):595–608.
- 51. Ogbuagu O, Ruane PJ, Podzamczer D, Salazar LC, Henry K, Asmuth DM, et al; DISCOVER Study Team. Long-term safety and efficacy of emtricitabine and tenofovir alafenamide vs emtricitabine and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for HIV-1 pre-exposure prophylaxis: week 96 results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet HIV. 2021;8(7):e397–e407.
- 52. Otto AO, Rivera CG, Zeuli JD, Temesgen Z. Hepatotoxicity of contemporary antiretroviral drugs: a review and evaluation of published clinical data. Cells. 2021;**10**(5):1263.
- 53. Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/273174, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 54. Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/154590, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 55. Rowan SE, Patel RR, Schneider JA, Smith DK. Same-day prescribing of daily oral pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention. Lancet HIV. 2021;8(2):e114–e120.
- 56. Medina-Marino A, Bezuidenhout D, Ngwepe P, Bezuidenhout C, Facente SN, Mabandla S, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of leveraging community-based HIV counselling and testing platforms for same-day oral PrEP initiation among adolescent girls and young women in Eastern Cape, South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;25(7):e25968.

- 57. Kamis KF, Marx GE, Scott KA, Gardner EM, Wendel KA, Scott ML, et al. Same-day HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) initiation during drop-in sexually transmitted diseases clinic appointments is a highly acceptable, feasible, and safe model that engages individuals at risk for HIV into PrEP care. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;**6**(7):ofz310.
- 58. Veloso VG, Cáceres CF, Hoagland B, Moreira RI, Vega-Ramírez H, Konda KA, et al; ImPrEP Study Group. Same-day initiation of oral pre-exposure prophylaxis among gay, bisexual, and other cisgender men who have sex with men and transgender women in Brazil, Mexico, and Peru (ImPrEP): a prospective, single-arm, open-label, multicentre implementation study. Lancet HIV. 2023;10(2):e84–e96.
- 59. Grant RM, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu A, Amico KR, Mehrotra M, et al; iPrEx study team. Uptake of pre-exposure prophylaxis, sexual practices, and HIV incidence in men and transgender women who have sex with men: a cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;**14**(9):820–829.
- 60. McCormack S, Dunn DT, Desai M, Dolling DI, Gafos M, Gilson R, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (PROUD): effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic open-label randomised trial. Lancet. 2015.
- 61. Grant RM, Glidden DV. HIV moments and pre-exposure prophylaxis. Lancet. 2016;387(10027):1507-8.
- 62. Smith DK, Herbst JH, Zhang X, Rose CE. Condom effectiveness for HIV prevention by consistency of use among men who have sex with men in the United States. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;**68**(3):337–44.
- 63. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al; HPTN 052 Study Team. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;**365**(6):493–505.
- 64. Baeten J, Heffron R, Kidoguchi L, Mugo N, Katabira E, Bukusi E, et al. Near elimination of HIV transmission in a demonstration project of PrEP and ART. Presented at CROI, 23–26 February 2015, Seattle, WA, USA. 2015.
- 65. Thomson KA, Hughes J, Baeten JM, John-Stewart G, Celum C, Cohen CR, et al; Partners in Prevention HSV/HIV Transmission Study and Partners PrEP Study Teams. Increased risk of HIV acquisition among women throughout pregnancy and during the postpartum period: a prospective per-coital-act analysis among women with HIV-infected partners. J Infect Dis. 2018;**218**(1):16–25.
- 66. Machekano R, Tiam A, Kassaye S, Tukei V, Gill M, Mohai F, et al. HIV incidence among pregnant and postpartum women in a high prevalence setting. PLoS One. 2018;**13**(12): p. e0209782.
- 67. Drake AL, Wagner A, Richardson B, John-Stewart G. Incident HIV during pregnancy and postpartum and risk of mother-to-child HIV transmission: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2014;**11**(2):e1001608.
- 68. Dunbar, M. Risk assessment tools and the identification of individuals at high-risk of HIV infection in the delivery of oral PrEP: analysis and recommendations. 2018. (https://www.prepwatch.org/resources/risk-assessment-tools-analysis-recommendations/, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 69. Consolidated guidelines on person-centred HIV strategic information: strengthening routine data for impact. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/360948, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 70. Ong JJ, Baggaley RC, Wi TE, Tucker JD, Fu H, Smith MK, et al. Global epidemiologic characteristics of sexually transmitted infections among individuals using preexposure prophylaxis for the prevention of HIV infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;**2**(12):e1917134.
- 71. Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024.
- 72. World Health Organization. WHO recommends optimizing HIV testing services. 2023. (https://www.who.int/news/item/22-07-2023-who-recommends-optimizing-hiv-testing-services, accessed 29 April 2024).
- 73. Uyei J, Coetzee D, Macinko J, Guttmacher S. Integrated delivery of HIV and tuberculosis services in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011;**11**(11):855–67.
- 74. Kiptinness C, Kuo AP, Reedy AM, Johnson CC, Ngure K, Wagner AD, Ortblad KF. Examining the Use of HIV Self-Testing to Support PrEP Delivery: a Systematic Literature Review. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2022;**19**(5):394–408.
- 75. Grant R, Fonner, V, Rodolph M, Liegler T, Glidden D, Baggaley R. Benefits of pre-exposure prophylaxis relative to drug resistance risk. Presented at the 21st International AIDS Conference, 18–22 July 2016, Durban. 2016.
- 76. Abbas UL, Glaubius R, Mubayi A, Hood G, Mellors JW. Antiretroviral therapy and pre-exposure prophylaxis: combined impact on HIV transmission and drug resistance in South Africa. J Infect Dis. 2013;**208**(2):224–34.

- 77. Gibas KM, van den Berg P, Powell VE, Krakower DS. Drug resistance during HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis. Drugs. 2019. **79**(6):609–619.
- 78. Grant RM, Smith DK. Integrating antiretroviral strategies for human immunodeficiency virus prevention: post- and pre-exposure prophylaxis and early treatment. Open Forum Infect Dis, 2015;**2**(4):ofv126.
- 79. Rivet Amico K, Bekker LG. Global PrEP roll-out: recommendations for programmatic success. Lancet HIV. 2019;6(2):e137-e140.
- 80. Lorenzetti L, Dinh N, van der Straten A, Fonner V, Ridgeway K, Rodolph M, et al. Systematic review of the values and preferences regarding the use of injectable pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV infection. J Int AIDS Soc. 2023;26(Suppl 2):e26107.
- 81. Ross J, Stover J. Use of modern contraception increases when more methods become available: analysis of evidence from 1982–2009. Glob Health Sci Pract. 2013;1(2):203–212.
- 82. WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection. Module 3: Counsellors. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/258517)
- 83. Zhang J, Li C, Xu J, Hu Z, Rutstein SE, Tucker JD, et al. Discontinuation, suboptimal adherence, and reinitiation of oral HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet HIV 2022;**9**(4):e254–e268.
- 84. Reed JB, Shrestha P, Were D, Chakare T, Mutegi J, Wakhutu B, et al. HIV PrEP is more than ART-lite: Longitudinal study of real-world PrEP services data identifies missing measures meaningful to HIV prevention programming. J Int AIDS Soc. 2021;**24**(10):e25827.
- 85. Violence against women prevalence estimates, 2018: global, regional and national prevalence estimates for intimate partner violence against women and global and regional prevalence estimates for non-partner sexual violence against women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/341337, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 86. Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and nonpartner sexual violence. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/85239, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 87. Peitzmeier SM, Malik M, Kattari SK, Marrow E, Stephenson R, Agénor M, Reisner SL. Intimate Partner Violence in Transgender Populations: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prevalence and Correlates. Am J Public Health. 2020;**110**(9):e1–e14.
- 88. Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women: WHO clinical and policy guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/85240, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 89. Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/254885, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 90. Owor M, Noguchi L, Horne E, Matimbira M, Ssemambo PK, Madhlopa-Mandiwa V, et al. Dapivirine ring safety and drug detection in breastfeeding mother-infant pairs, in Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections. Seattle: 2023.
- 91. Bunge K, Balkus JE, Fairlie L, Mayo AJ, Nakabiito C, Mgodi N, et al. DELIVER: A safety study of a dapivirine vaginal ring and oral PrEP for the prevention of HIV during pregnancy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2023.
- 92. Makanani B, Balkus JE, Jiao Y, Noguchi LM, Palanee-Phillips T, Mbilizi Y, et al. Pregnancy and infant outcomes among women using the dapivirine vaginal ring in early pregnancy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;**79**(5):566–572.
- 93. Schaefer R, Amparo da Costa Leite PH, Silva R, Abdool Karim Q, Akolo C, Cáceres CF, et al. Kidney function in tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based oral pre-exposure prophylaxis users: a systematic review and meta-analysis of published literature and a multi-country meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet HIV. 2022;9(4)e242–e253.
- 94. World Health Organization, Hepatitis B vaccines: WHO position paper July 2017. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2017;**92**(27)369–392 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/255873, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 95. Recommendations and guidance on hepatitis C virus self-testing. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/342803, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 96. Xu Y, Aboud L, Chow EPF, Mello MB, Wi T, Baggaley R, et al. The diagnostic accuracy of pooled testing from multiple individuals for the detection of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae: a systematic review. Int J Infect Dis. 2022;**118**:183–193.
- 97. WHO recommendations on self-care interventions: Self-collection of samples for sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/332335, accessed 13 February 2024).

- 98. Parikh, U.M. and J.W. Mellors, How could HIV-1 drug resistance impact preexposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention? Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2022;**17**(4):213–221.
- 99. Ahluwalia AK, Inzaule S, Baggaley RC, Vitoria M, Schaefer R, Schmidt HA, et al. Characterization of dolutegravir drug resistance in persons diagnosed with HIV after exposure to long-acting injectable cabotegravir for pre-exposure prophylaxis. AIDS. 2022;**36**(13):1897–1898.
- 100. Marzinke MA, Fogel JM, Wang Z, Piwowar-Manning E, Kofron R, Moser A, et al. Extended Analysis of HIV Infection in Cisgender Men and Transgender Women Who Have Sex with Men Receiving Injectable Cabotegravir for HIV Prevention: HPTN 083. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2023 Apr 18;67(4):e0005323.
- 101. HIV drug resistance surveillance in countries scaling up pre-exposure prophylaxis. 2020, Geneva: World Health Organization (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/336543, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 102. Nanda K, Stuart GS, Robinson J, Gray AL, Tepper NK, Gaffield ME. Drug interactions between hormonal contraceptives and antiretrovirals. AIDS. 2017;**31**(7):917–952.
- 103. Balkus JE, Palanee-Phillips T, Reddy K, Siva S, Harkoo I, Nakabiito C, et al. Brief Report: Dapivirine vaginal ring use does not diminish the effectiveness of hormonal contraception. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;**76**(2):e47–e51.
- 104. Blair CS, Li S, Chau G, Cottle L, Richardson P, Marzinke MA, et al; HPTN 077 Study Team. Hormonal contraception use and cabotegravir pharmacokinetics in HIV-uninfected women enrolled in HPTN 077. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2020;85(1):93.
- 105. Trezza C, Ford SL, Gould E, Lou Y, Huang C, Ritter JM, et al. Lack of effect of oral cabotegravir on the pharmacokinetics of a levonorgestrel/ethinyl oestradiol-containing oral contraceptive in healthy adult women. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2017;83(7):1499–1505.
- 106. Mofenson LM, R.C. Baggaley, and I. Mameletzis, Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate safety for women and their infants during pregnancy and breastfeeding. AIDS. 2017;**31**(2):213–232.
- 107. Joseph Davey, DL, Pintye J, Baeten JM, Aldrovandi G, Baggaley R, Bekker LG, et al; PrEP in Pregnancy Working Group. Emerging evidence from a systematic review of safety of pre-exposure prophylaxis for pregnant and postpartum women: where are we now and where are we heading? J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;**23**(1):e25426.
- 108. WHO technical brief: preventing HIV during pregnancy and breastfeeding in the context of PrEP. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/255866, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 109. Mugwanya KK, Hendrix CW, Mugo NR, Marzinke M, Katabira ET, Ngure K, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis use by breastfeeding HIV-uninfected women: a prospective short-term study of antiretroviral excretion in breast milk and infant absorption. PLoS Med. 2016;**13**(9):e1002132.
- 110. Joseph Davey, DL, Mvududu R, Mashele N, Lesosky M, Khadka N, Bekker LG, Gorbach P, Coates TJ, Myer L. Early pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) initiation and continuation among pregnant and postpartum women in antenatal care in Cape Town, South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;25(2):e25866.
- 111. Kinuthia J, Pintye J, Abuna F, Mugwanya KK, Lagat H, Onyango D, et al; PrEP Implementation for Young Women and Adolescents (PrIYA) programme. Pre-exposure prophylaxis uptake and early continuation among pregnant and post-partum women within maternal and child health clinics in Kenya: results from an implementation programme. Lancet HIV. 2020;**7**(1):e38–e48.
- 112. Joseph Davey D, Nyemba DC, Castillo-Mancilla J, Wiesner L, Norman J, Mvududu R, et al. Adherence challenges with daily oral pre-exposure prophylaxis during pregnancy and the postpartum period in South African women: a cohort study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2022;**25**(12):e26044.
- 113. Noguchi LM, Hoesley C, Kelly C, Scheckter R, Bunge K, Nel A, et al. Pharmacokinetics of dapivirine transfer into blood plasma, breast milk, and cervicovaginal fluid of lactating women using the dapivirine vaginal ring. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;**63**(3).
- 114. Delany-Moretlwe, S, Hughes J, Guo X, Hanscom B, Hendrix CW, Farrior J, et al. Evaluation of CAB-LA safety and PK in pregnant women in the blinded phase of HPTN 084. Presented at CROI, 12–16 2022, virtual. 2022.
- 115. Delany-Moretlwe S, Hughes JP, Bock P, Dadabhai S, Gadama D, Hunidzarira P, et al; the HPTN 084 Study Team. Long acting cabotegravir: updated efficacy and safety results from HPTN 084, Presented at AIDS 2022. Montreal: 2022.

- 116. WHO guideline on syphilis screening and treatment for pregnant women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/259003, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 117. The path that ends AIDS: UNAIDS Global AIDS Update 2023. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2023 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ documents/2023/global-aids-update-2023, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 118. Stutterheim SE, an Dijk M, Wang H, Jonas KJ. The worldwide burden of HIV in transgender individuals: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One, 2021. **16**(12):e0260063.
- 119. Van Gerwen O, Jani A, Long DM, Austin EL, Musgrove K, Muzny CA. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections and human immunodeficiency virus in transgender persons: a systematic review. Transgend Health. 2020;**5**(2):90–103.
- 120. Moradi G, Soheili M, Rashti R, Dehghanbanadaki H, Nouri E, Zakaryaei F, et al. The prevalence of hepatitis C and hepatitis B in lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Med Res. 2022;**27**(1):47.
- 121. Grant RM, Pellegrini M, Defechereux PA, Anderson PL, Yu M, Glidden DV, et al. Sex hormone therapy and tenofovir diphosphate concentration in dried blood spots: primary results of the interactions between antiretrovirals and transgender hormones study. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;**73**(7):e2117–e2123.
- 122. Cattani VB, Jalil EM, Eksterman L, Torres T, Cardoso SW, Castro CRV, et al; PrEParadas Study Team.Impact of feminizing hormone therapy on tenofovir and emtricitabine plasma pharmacokinetics: a nested drug-drug interaction study in a cohort of Brazilian transgender women using HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2022;**77**(10):2729–2736.
- 123. Grinsztejn, B, Hanscom B, Wang Z, Donnell D, Richardson P, Sullivan P, et al. Transgender women (TGW) in HPTN 083: an evaluation of safety, efficacy, and gender affirming hormonal therapy (GAHT) interactions with long-acting cabotegravir (CAB-LA). Presented at AIDS 2022 (Published abstract). Montreal: 2022.
- 124. Marzinke MA, Hanscom B, Wang Z, Safren SA, Psaros C, Donnell D, et al; HPTN 083 Study Group. Efficacy, safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of long-acting injectable cabotegravir for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in transgender women: a secondary analysis of the HPTN 083 trial. Lancet HIV. 2023;**10**(11):e703-e712.
- 125. Shaw G, Schaefer R, Schmidt HA, Madden A, Chang J, Mozalevskis A, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention among people who inject drugs: a global mapping of service delivery. Harm Reduct J. 2023;**20**(1):16.
- 126. Matambanadzo P, Busza J, Mafaune H, Chinyanganya L, Machingura F, Ncube G, Steen R, Phillips A, Cowan FM. "It went through the roof": an observation study exploring the rise in PrEP uptake among Zimbabwean female sex workers in response to adaptations during Covid-19. J Int AIDS Soc. 2021;**24**(6):e25813.
- 127. United States Food and Drug Administration. Truvada prescribing information. 2018 (http://www.gilead.com/~/media/Files/pdfs/ medicines/hiv/truvada_truvada_pi.pdf, accessed 13 February 2024).
- 128. Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Brown ER, Schwartz K, Soto-Torres LE, Govender V, et al; MTN-020–ASPIRE Study Team. Use of a vaginal ring containing dapivirine for HIV-1 prevention in women. N Engl J Med. 2016;**375**(22)2121–2132.
- 129. Nair G, Celum C, Szydlo D, Brown ER, Akello CA, Nakalega R, et al; REACH Protocol Team. Adherence, safety, and choice of the monthly dapivirine vaginal ring or oral emtricitabine plus tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis among African adolescent girls and young women: a randomised, open-label, crossover trial. Lancet HIV. 2023;**10**(12):e779-e789.
- 130. Rosengren AL, Lelutiu-Weinberger C, Woodhouse EW, Sandanapitchai P, Hightow-Weidman LB. A scoping review of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis stigma and implications for stigma-reduction interventions for men and transwomen who have sex with men. AIDS Behav. 2021;**25**(7):2054–2070.
- 131. Calabrese SK, Understanding, contextualizing, and addressing prep stigma to enhance PrEP implementation. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2020;17(6):579–588.
- 132. Schaefer R, Schmidt HA, Ravasi G, Mozalevskis A, Rewari BB, Lule F, et al. Adoption of guidelines on and use of oral pre-exposure prophylaxis: a global summary and forecasting study. Lancet HIV. 2021;**8**(8):e502–e510.
- 133. Patel N, Method of calculating renal function estimates could inappropriately exclude transgender patients receiving gender-affirming hormone therapy from pre-exposure prophylaxis eligibility.method of calculating renal function estimates could inappropriately exclude transgender patients receiving gender-affirming hormone therapy from pre-exposure prophylaxis eligibility. LGBT Health. 2022;**9**(3):199–206.

- 134. Webb AJ, McManus D, Rouse GE, Vonderheyde R, Topal JE. Implications for medication dosing for transgender patients: a review of the literature and recommendations for pharmacists. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2020;**77**(6):427–433.
- 135. Zhang L, lannuzzi S, Chaturvedula A, Irungu E, Haberer JE, Hendrix CW, et al. Model-based predictions of protective HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence levels in cisgender women. Nat Med. 2023;29(11):2753-62.
- 136 Marrazzo J, Becker M, Bekker L, Celum C, Kiragu M, Leech A, et al. 8+ Year Pooled Analysis: Adherence and HIV Incidence in >6000 Women on F/TDF for PrEP - adherence matters. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI); Seattle2023.
- 137. Makanani B, Fairlie L, Balkus J, Szydlo D, Mgodi N, Nakabiito C, Mayo A, Piper J, Chakhtoura N, Hillier S, Bunge K, on behalf of the MTN-042/DELIVER Study Team Prioritizing the evaluation of HIV prevention interventions in pregnancy: Interim results from a randomized, open-label safety trial of dapivirine vaginal ring and oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate/emtricitabine use in late pregnancy [abstract]. Presented at IAS 2021 Conference on HIV Science. 2021. Virtual.
- 138. Noguchi L, Owor M, Mirembe B, Horne E, Mgodi, N, Taulo F, et al; MTN-043/B-PROTECTED Team. Phase 3B, randomized, open-label, safety study of dapivirine vaginal ring and oral emtricitabine 200mg/tenofovir disoproxil fumarate 300 mg tablet in breastfeeding mother-infant pairs. Presented at the 24th International AIDS Conference, 29 July–2 August 2022, Montreal, Canada. 2022.
- 139. Shaik JS, Weld ED, Edick S, Fuchs E, Riddler S, Marzinke MA, et al. Multicompartmental pharmacokinetic evaluation of long-acting cabotegravir in healthy adults for HIV preexposure prophylaxis. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2022;88(4):1667–1678.
- 140. Landovitz RJ, Hanscom BS, Clement ME, Tran HV, Kallas EG, Magnus M, et al; HPTN 083 Study Team. Efficacy and safety of longacting cabotegravir compared with daily oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate plus emtricitabine to prevent HIV infection in cisgender men and transgender women who have sex with men 1 year after study unblinding: a secondary analysis of the phase 2b and 3 HPTN 083 randomised controlled trial. Lancet HIV. 2023;**10**(12):e767–e778.
- 141. Marzinke MA, Grinsztejn B, Fogel JM, Piwowar-Manning E, Li M, Weng L, et al.Characterization of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Infection in Cisgender Men and Transgender Women Who Have Sex With Men Receiving Injectable Cabotegravir for HIV Prevention: HPTN 083. J Infect Dis. 2021;224(9):1581–1592.
- 142. Eshleman SH, Fogel JM, Piwowar-Manning E, Chau G, Cummings V, Agyei Y, et al. Characterization of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infections in women who received injectable cabotegravir or tenofovir disoproxil fumarate/emtricitabine for HIV prevention: HPTN 084. J Infect Dis, 2022. **225**(10):1741–1749.
- 143. Parikh UM, Koss CA, Mellors JW. Long-Acting Injectable Cabotegravir for HIV Prevention: What do we know and need to know about the risks and consequences of cabotegravir resistance? Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2022;**19**(5):384–393.
- 144. Felizarta F, Felizarta F, D'Amico R, Wang K, Crauwels H, Masiá M, et al. Thigh injections of cabotegravir + rilpivirine in virally suppressed adults with HIV-1. Presented at CROI, 19–22 February 2023, Seattle, WA, USA: 2023.

Annex. Suggested procedures for measuring kidney function for TDF-containing oral PrEP

Suggested procedures

Impaired kidney function, indicated by an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) of <60 mL/min per 1.73 m² or an estimated creatinine clearance of <60 mL/min, is a contraindication for TDF-based oral PrEP. Table A1 outlines suggested procedures for measuring kidney function for PrEP initiation and continuation for different populations. Where required, kidney function can be measured within three months of PrEP initiation. Waiting for a kidney function test result should not delay initiation or continuation of oral PrEP, as results can be reviewed at follow-up visits.

Table A1. Suggested procedures for measuring kidney function for TDF-containing oral PrEP.

Population	Measurement of kidney function	
	At initiation	At follow-up
Individuals aged under 30 years and no kidney-related comorbidities ^a	Optional	If no initiation test conducted or if initiation test is normal, ^b follow-up is optional.
		If initiation test result suggests at least mild loss of kidney function, ° follow-up measurements every 6–12 months are suggested.
Individuals aged 30–49 years and no kidney-related comorbidities ^a	Optional/conduct once, at, or within three months of initiation ^d	If initiation test is normal, ^b follow-up is optional.
		If initiation test result suggests at least mild loss of kidney function, ° follow-up measurements every 6–12 months are suggested.
Individuals aged 50+ years and with no kidney-related comorbidities ^a	Conduct once, at or within three months of initiation	Follow-up measurements every 6–12 months.
Individuals of any age with kidney-related comorbidities ^a		
Individuals with previous measurement of kidney function suggesting at least mild loss of kidney function		

PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis; TDF: tenofovir disoproxil fumarate.

^a Kidney-related comorbidities include chronic kidney disease or risk factors such as diabetes or hypertension. There may be an increased risk of kidney-related adverse events during pregnancy, and conditions such as preeclampsia may cause kidney impairment, so more frequent kidney function testing may be considered during pregnancy.

^b eGFR ≥90 mL/min per 1.73 m² or creatinine clearance of ≥90 mL/min.

 $^\circ~$ eGFR <90 mL/min per 1.73 m² or creatinine clearance of <90 mL/min.

^d Risks of kidney impairment and kidney-related adverse events remain low among those aged 30–49 years without kidney-related comorbidities, particularly those aged 30–39, so kidney function monitoring can be considered optional in this group too, depending on available resources.

Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

www.who.int

